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I am delighted to introduce the 
Royal Society of Edinburgh’s 
Annual Report for 2020-2021. 

Having only stepped into the role of 
President in May 2021, I would like to 
thank my predecessor, Professor Dame 
Anne Glover; former General Secretary 
Dr Alison Elliot and their fellow Trustees 
for supporting the organisation, in a year 
hugely disrupted by Covid, and continuing 
to lead the RSE on a journey of change to 
enhance its visibility, impact and reach.

The RSE has been delivering its mission 
of ‘knowledge made useful’ throughout 
its long history since 1783. Over that time, 
there have been challenging periods, with 
the past year of the Covid-19 pandemic 
seeing suffering and pain – as well as 
scientific breakthroughs - on a global scale.  

As Scotland’s National Academy, it has 
been ever-more important that we have 
extended our reach and visibility to 
ensure that research and knowledge can 
be of maximum benefit to society while 
also learning from the experiences of as 
many as possible across Scotland. 

In May 2020, we established the RSE’s 
Post-Covid Futures Commission, bringing 
together the expertise of Fellows with others 
in business, public and third sectors, to help 
map a way through for Scotland post-crisis. 
We report here on the first 11 months of the 
Commission’s work, as we have engaged 
with diverse communities across the country. 
We also delivered a “rapid response” research 
awards programme for academics whose 
productivity had been impacted by Covid-19.

RSE’s work depends greatly on the invaluable 
contributions of our 1600+ Fellows who 
are drawn from the worlds of science, 
engineering, the arts, business and public 
service. Through their voluntary contribution, 
we have continued to: strengthen Scotland’s 
research capacity and leadership; support 
innovation; influence public policy; raise 
Scotland’s profile in the world; and enable 
the public to contribute to debates on 
issues of national and global significance. 

Professor Dame Jocelyn Bell Burnell FRS FRSE 
President (Interim)

13 September 2021

It also relies on the commitment and 
expertise of the Society’s staff who work 
in partnership with Fellows to deliver our 
mission of knowledge made useful. This 
year has been a particularly challenging 
one as the team shifted in short order to 
working from home and delivering digitally 
as well as taking forward a number of new 
initiatives. I would like to thank them all for 
their continuing commitment and hard work. 

The 2020-2021 Annual Report gives 
you the highlights of another busy and 
productive year at the RSE, as we continue 
to play an important part in the life of 
the nation. We remain ambitious to do 
more across the length and breadth of 
the country, anticipating both the needs 
and opportunities where knowledge and 
expertise can play a transformative role.

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

President’s Foreword
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In the last year, the RSE has been debating 
its role in the 21st Century and its future. 
A series of meetings around our next 
Strategic Framework identified some key 
tasks, as central to the Society as a National 
Academy and a Fellowship. They include:

• The promotion of research and 
learning across the natural sciences, 
social sciences and humanities;

• The application of knowledge in public 
policy, the economy and society, 
addressing current challenges;

• Dissemination of knowledge 
and understanding across wider 
society, contributing to an informed, 
engaged and critical public; 

• Support for research and learning 
in higher education and beyond;

• Administration of research 
funds and fellowships;

• Policy analysis and advice to 
governments and parliaments at all 
levels. We do not engage in advocacy 
politics but go where the evidence takes 
us, accepting that not everyone will 
interpret evidence in the same way.

This is all informed by the principles 
of inclusion and diversity.

In recent years, the demands on the Society 
have increased and we may need to prioritise 
activities. The world of the 21st Century is 
very different from that of our founders in 
1783 and we have had vigorous debates 
within the Fellowship on how to adapt and 
retain our position in the world of Scottish 
learning, intellectual progress and policy. 

Of course, in the past year, the main 
challenge has been the Covid crisis, on 
which we have, as explained below, a 
Commission, reporting this year. The 
Society has also continued to respond to the 
demands of global climate change, Brexit 
and, the constitutional question across 
the United Kingdom, economic change 
and migration, among other topics. 

None of these is amenable to simple 
or single-discipline solutions. Covid, for 
example, requires inputs from the life 
sciences, the behavioural sciences and 
history and finds expression in literature 
and the arts. Climate change poses 
technical, economic and social challenges, 
as recognised in our contribution at COP26 
in Glasgow. The same is true of the other 
great issues of the day. The RSE, with its 
unique composition of Fellows from all 
academic disciplines as well as business, 
civil society and the arts, is well placed 
to respond to these challenges, as the 
cases discussed in this Report show.  

We have also been using these challenges 
to explore more deeply the variety of forms 
and expressions of knowledge required to 
understand the world in all its complexity. 
Different disciplinary approaches may 
compete with each other but they are 
often better seen as complementary, 
dealing with different aspects of reality. 

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Professor Michael Keating, FRSE, FBA 
General Secretary

13 September 2021

General Secretary’s Foreword
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These questions are vital to understanding 
a changing world and have attracted the 
interest of Fellows. One group has recently 
proposed to set up ‘communities of interest’, 
which can work together on issues beyond 
their immediate research projects, exploring 
deeper understandings. Other Fellows 
have expressed an interest in making more 
use of the RSE’s Sections to discuss new 
ideas within their disciplines. These are 
welcome ideas, which will be pursued.

In a more concrete way, Fellows are taking 
the opportunity to explore the nature of 
the application of academic knowledge 
or ‘impact’. This term is much used these 
days in academia (featuring prominently in 
the Research Excellence Framework) but 
often applied in a mechanistic way. Our 
recent experiences allow us to think more 
deeply about our motto of ‘knowledge made 
useful’ and how knowledge is generated, 
exchanged and received between academics 
and practitioners. Covid has supplied 
ample evidence here of the potential 
and difficulties of the process. A group 
of Fellows is proposing a programme of 
seminars and discussions around the 
theme of policy learning, drawing in policy 
practitioners as well as academics across 
the disciplines. This is not just about 
Scotland but will make a contribution to 
international exchanges and comparisons. 

The Report gives examples of our efforts 
to reach out to society more widely, to new 
sections of the public, whether they be 
defined by geography, class, gender, ethnicity 
or other criteria. This is not an easy task 
and we often learn what works by practice. 
For example, in the regional strategy there 
is the question of the right territorial level 
to target and how to engage with local 
organisations. There are sections of society 
not habitually engaged in public life, to 
whom the RSE might appear remote and too 
university-centred. Again, we are learning 
by practice but we still have much to learn.

Brexit has strained Scotland’s links with 
Europe. Although the UK has retained 
access to the EU research funds, the costs 
have to be met from existing resources and 
pan-European research networks may be 
threatened. The RSE’s new European grants, 
funded by the Scottish Government, are very 
welcome but challenges remain. Meanwhile, 
as the Report shows, we continue to work 
on the international programmes, including 
Pan-Africa partnerships and networks with 
countries in Africa, the Pacific and Asia.

Like other organisations, RSE faces a 
difficult financial future. It currently incurs 
operating losses and that cannot continue. 
Difficult choices will have to be made to 
eliminate or at least substantially reduce 
these; either further funding sources will 
require to be found or costs cut by curtailing 
activities. Work is underway further to 
modernise  financial systems and controls 
within the Society. A three year strategic 
and financial plan is being developed and 
approaches to identifying and mitigating the 
major risks facing the Society examined.

General Secretary’s Foreword (continued)

Hear more from  
the General Secretary

https://youtu.be/99oKEOa4BCM
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Welcome to the 2020-2021 Annual 
Report of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, 
Scotland’s National Academy. This year 
brought significant challenges as Covid-19 
led to unimaginable losses for individuals, 
communities and businesses and had a 
profound impact on our work and home 
lives. In the midst of the pandemic, we 
remained steadfastly committed to delivering 
our mission of ‘knowledge made useful’, 
adapting both our working practices and 
our focus, to the world in which we found 
ourselves. The 2020-2021 annual report, 
therefore, shares the highlights of what was 
an exceptional year where we shifted all our 
activities online, continued to deliver a core 
programme of activity, while reorienting 
other work to Covid-19-related priorities.   

As part of this, in May 2020, we established 
the Post-Covid-19 Futures Commission, 
drawing on the tremendous expertise in 
our Fellowship and working with our wider 
community of stakeholders and friends, to 
support Scotland in emerging as positively 
as it can from the current pandemic. With 
an emphasis on supporting dialogue and 
understanding, the Commission oversaw 
four thematic Working Groups focused on 
building national resilience; data, evidence 
and science; inclusive public service; 
and public debate and participation. 

The Commission enabled us to test out new 
and more inclusive ways of engaging as part 
of our commitment to better connecting 
with a wider range of people. This included 
the RSE’s first ‘hack’, a series of filmed case 
studies, blogs and video animations.

While continuing to deliver a programme of 
grants to support early career researchers 
and research leaders across diverse fields 
and our renowned Enterprise Fellowship 
programme, we also led the way in delivering 
two rapid response research awards 
programmes: one to support Scottish-led 
international research networks ahead of 
the COP26 Climate Change Conference and 
the other to support individual researchers 
whose academic productivity had been 
adversely impacted by Covid-19. 

Dr Rebekah Widdowfield FRSA 
Chief Executive

13 September 2021

Our public engagement shifted entirely 
online in April 2020 enabling us to 
schedule a wider range of events and 
increase participation. While sorry not to 
be able to build on the success of our first 
summer festival programme, Curious, in 
physical space, an online version proved 
no less successful attracting some 
1200 attendees to a wide programme of 
events covering everything from space 
technologies to DNA, language to dance. 

All of the RSE’s work is underpinned by the 
expertise and experience of our Fellows 
who give of their time freely in support 
of the RSE’s mission. This includes in 
our policy work where the breadth of 
expertise within the Fellowship allows 
us to powerfully combine academic and 
practitioner knowledge and experience to 
provide independent and impartial advice. 
Over the course of the last year we have 
produced advice papers on a wide range of 
issues from climate change to the science 
workforce to the implications of Brexit.

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Chief Executive’s Foreword

https://www.rsecovidcommission.org.uk/
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With many policy issues cutting across 
devolved and reserved areas, together with 
the Learned Society of Wales and the Royal 
Irish Academy we have established the Celtic 
Academies Alliance, to provide independent 
expert advice on higher education and 
research matters and support a better 
understanding of the distinctive needs 
and priorities of the devolved nations.  

Further afield, we continue to collaborate with 
sister academies around the world. Despite 
cancellation of all face-to-face networking 
and travel due to the pandemic our 
international relations work continued apace. 
We hosted more than 15 meetings virtually, 
working with over 29 other Academies; 
awarded 30 international research grants; 
and, through our new Africa Working Group, 
are building Pan-African partnerships across 
the African continent with an emphasis 
on “knowledge made mutually useful”.

Partnership and collaboration are essential 
to the RSE’s work. Over the past year, we 
have benefitted immensely from the input of 
many friends and colleagues, including in the 
RSE’s Post-Covid-19 Futures Commission. 
I would like to conclude by thanking our 
Fellows, funders and partner organisations 
for their contributions and ongoing support 
in helping deliver our mission of knowledge 
made useful in this most unusual of years.

Chief Executive’s Foreword (continued)

Hear more from  
the Chief Executive

https://youtu.be/d-Je5D7ayq8
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RSE: Knowledge Made Useful 
The RSE, Scotland’s National Academy, 
was established in 1783 for ‘the 
advancement of learning and useful 
knowledge’. Our contemporary mission 
remains the same – the deployment 
of knowledge for public good.

Provide
Expertise

PromoteEngageInspire

Inform and influence 
public policy.

Provide expertise 
to ensure that 
Scotland’s policy 
makers and 
influencers have 
access to the best 
national, and indeed 
global, expertise.

Enhance research 
capacity and 
leadership in 
Scotland. 

Strengthen 
Scotland’s cross-
sector connections 
and its ability to 
realise benefits 
from its research 
and innovation.

Inspire and support 
Scotland’s most 
promising young 
talent across 
the research, 
business and public 
sectors, in order 
to create value 
for the economy 
and society.

Raise Scotland’s 
profile and 
strengthen its 
connections 
with the world.

Promote Scotland’s 
interests and 
reputation on the 
global stage.

Enhance the public’s 
contribution to 
and engagement 
with contemporary 
national and 
global scientific, 
cultural and 
economic issues.

Engage on key 
contemporary 
issues by providing 
an impartial forum 
for public debate 
and discussion. 

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Aims and Objectives

We are driven by knowledge that contributes 
to the social and economic wellbeing of 
Scotland, its people and the nation’s wider 
contribution to the global community. 

We deliver on this mission through our 
strategic objectives and impacts to 
Inspire, Engage, Provide Expertise and 
Promote Scotland internationally.
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In 2021, we describe our mission as 
“knowledge made useful”. This shapes 
everything that we do. We are passionate 
about making sure that knowledge 
improves society’s economic and social 
wellbeing, supports Scotland’s people 
and increases our shared contribution 
to the wider, international community 
particularly in times of global challenge. 

We organise our work under four 
objectives. These are to:

1. Inspire and support Scotland’s 
most promising young talent across 
the research, business and public 
sectors, in order to create value 
for the economy and society 

2. Engage on key contemporary issues 
by providing an impartial forum for 
public debate and discussion 

3. Provide expertise to ensure that 
Scotland’s policy makers and 
influencers have access to the best 
national, and indeed global, expertise  

4. Promote Scotland’s interests and 
reputation on the global stage

In this our 2020-2021 Annual Report, we 
share examples of how we have made 
knowledge useful across Scotland and 
internationally over the past 12 months, 
during a year dominated by the Covid-19 
pandemic and a focus on recovery, inclusion 
and innovation. You will read how we have: 

• strengthened Scotland’s research 
capacity and leadership, including by 
responding to the challenge of the impact 
of Covid-19 on the academic community 
and the opportunity of COP26 in Scotland

• created new innovative links 
between research and industry 

• influenced public policy 

• raised Scotland’s profile in the world 

• enabled the public to contribute to 
debates on issues of national and global 
significance, including through the RSE’s 
Post-Covid Futures Commission. 

None of this would be possible without 
the contribution of the RSE’s Fellows who 
volunteer their time and expertise across 
a substantial breadth of knowledge and 
experience from academia, business, arts 
and culture, and public sector. Our 1,600+ 
Fellows contribute between £1m and 
£1.5m a year in free support for the RSE’s 
public benefit activities. Their significant 
input brings to life the RSE’s mission. 

We also benefit from the support of the 
Scottish Funding Council (SFC) whose 
core funding supports delivery of our 
mission alongside our own income.

We do hope you enjoy learning more on 
the following pages. If you’re reading 
this online, please do click on links for 
short video clips to find out more. 

Achievements and Performance
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Screenshots from community film.
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The RSE continues to inspire researchers 
and entrepreneurs from all walks of life. 
Our work has been all the more important 
over the past year during which evidence 
showed the Covid-19 pandemic impacting 
on academics and businesses, particularly 
those already experiencing disadvantage. 

The RSE has provided support, guidance, 
networks and mentoring to help people reach 
their goals. We achieve this via research 
grants, by enabling translation of research 
into businesses, and by supporting the 
Young Academy of Scotland (YAS). These 
three leading-edge programmes bring to 
life our commitment to “knowledge made 
useful”, improving economies and livelihoods 
across Scotland and internationally through 
their application. In the following pages we 
highlight how we inspire talented people 
for the wider good. Please also click on the 
short video clips to learn more from the 
researchers and entrepreneurs themselves.

RSE Research Programmes
Our competitive Research Awards 
Programme creates research capacity 
and leadership, continually supporting 
Scotland to be at the forefront of new 
research challenges and opportunities. 
Through our range of Fellowships, Grants 
and Scholarships we mobilise Scotland’s 
diverse and rich research base for public 
good at home and internationally. We 
have also been flexible by creating “rapid 
response” award programmes to help 
Scottish-based researchers adapt to 
challenges and opportunities and network 
with their international counterparts.

In 2020-2021, the RSE awarded three 
Sabbatical Grants to early-career 
researchers. Awards covered subjects that 
reflect societal needs and science priorities: 

• Bayesian Statistical Learning 
for Integrative Imaging in 
Alzheimer’s Diagnosis 

• Scotland’s influence on the COP26 
UN climate change conference 
as a devolved nation

• Fractal dimension in nonlinear 
nonconformal settings

Inspire and 
support 
Scotland’s 
most promising 
young talent 
across the 
research, 
business and 
public sectors, 
in order to 
create value for 
the economy 
and society.

Inspire

Watch a video on  
Research Awards

Watch a video on  
Young Academy of Scotland

Watch a video on  
Enterprise Fellowships

https://youtu.be/nFGVsaSgDgc
https://youtu.be/Kr5haNcLW2k
https://youtu.be/Dk8ty-vq82g


13         RSE Annual Report 2020–2021

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Inspire (continued)

The RSE’s Personal Research Fellowships 
create opportunities for exceptional 
researchers to build their research careers, 
becoming leaders in their area. In 2020-2021, 
the RSE supported leading researchers to: 

• shape future health programmes 
by improving understanding of how 
health outcomes vary between 
different geographic areas 

• apply new knowledge on embryonic 
development to clinical infertility studies.

The RSE is also building new research, 
collaboration and knowledge exchange in 
Scotland’s Arts and Humanities. In 2020-
2021, we awarded eight Small Grants, six 
Workshop Grants and eighteen Network  
Grants, as well as providing further ongoing 
support for Research Grants that received 
their awards in 2019-2020. Through this 
commitment, the RSE supports innovative 
research in multiple areas such as:

• the revitalising of post-genocide 
communities in Western Rwanda through 
cultural heritage and sustainable tourism

• Scots language policy and planning

• South Asian women in Scottish cinema 

“Rapid response” research awards 
In February 2021, the RSE launched two 
programmes with support from the Scottish 
Funding Council (SFC), due to compelling 
evidence of need in the academic community: 

• COP26 International Climate 
Change Network Grants: to 
address climate change impacts 
ahead of Scotland hosting COP26, 
while fostering international 
collaboration in a post-Brexit world

• Research Re-Boot Covid-19 Impact 
Research Grants: to support academics 
whose research had been adversely 
impacted by Covid-19, and who were 
experiencing reduced capacity to carry 
out research and/or publish the results.

The COP26 Call led to 11 successful 
international networking awards totalling 
over £100K. Research will cover diverse 
critical topics including: health in situations 
of fragility; hydrogen thermal engines; social 
and environmental accounting; pan-African 
climate justice; biodegradable material for 
cross-Atlantic transport baskets; and hybrid 
exploitation of offshore renewable energy.

The Covid-19 Research Reboot Call 
generated 124 applications from across 
Scotland’s research institutions. The 
RSE made 29 awards totalling £470K, 
with 79% of awardees being women, 
58% identifying as early career, and 67% 
stating that they had taken on additional 
caring responsibilities due to Covid-19. 

Awards recognised a great diversity 
of research including: ethnic minority 
entrepreneurship; colonial medicine; devolved 
democracy; early childhood development; 
seashell production; Victorian female 
detectives; digitised family celebrations 
during Covid-19; virus-insect host models; 
fluorescence microscopy; multiple sclerosis; 
the menstrual cycle and Covid-19; and the 
history of Scotland’s social economy.

Dr McPherson’s 
research 
translates and 

understands cases 
where women kill 

following domestic abuse. It was 
put on hold during the pandemic.

“Due to the need to upskill to 
deliver course material online, 
carrying out my day-to-day 
lecturing responsibilities, as 
well as home-schooling our two 
young children for six months, the 
research I had planned to conduct 
in 2020 could not go ahead.”
Dr Rachel McPherson 
Criminal Law Lecturer at the 
University of Glasgow



14         RSE Annual Report 2020–2021

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Inspire (continued)
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 1 Pain Management in Young People

Sabbatical Research Grants 
offer academics a twelve-
month break from teaching 
duties to focus entirely on a 
research project of their choice. 
Dr Line Caes (University of Stirling) put this 
grant to use by delving into the association 
between chronic pain, executive functioning 
and pain management in adolescents. 
She developed a working model called 
COPES, or Cyclical model Of Pain, Executive 
function, Emotion Regulation and Self-
management. This theoretical advancement 
allowed Dr Caes to highlight the need 
for systematic screening to address the 
deficits in executive functioning resulting 
from chronic pain in teenagers. 

Impact and wider engagement with science:

• Participation in the “I’m A Scientist 
Discovery Zone” online chats with 
school children all over the UK

• International Collaboration with the 
University of Alberta and the Alberta’s 
Children Hospital contributing 
to larger research output

• Engagement with Network of 
Psychologists working in Chronic Pain 
in Scotland and The Scottish Pain 
Research Community (SPaRC) to raise 
the profile of the original research

“During my sabbatical, 
I became actively 
involved (as co-chair) in 
setting up the European 

Paediatric Psychology 
Network (EPPN). This 

aims to bring together 
European researchers and clinicians 
working with children experiencing a long-
term health condition. The goal of EPPN 
is to stimulate international collaboration, 
disseminating scientific findings, 
and contribute to the development of 
knowledge and health care in the field 
of paediatric psychology. Being actively 
involved in setting up this network as a 
co-chair will further assist me in reaching 
my goals to expand my research 
network and become a world-renown 
expert in the field of paediatric pain.” 

Dr Line Caes 
University of Stirling

The COPES model is illustrated as follows:

Potential moderators: 
- Flexible parental support

- Adolescents self-
efficiency, motivation 

and health beliefs

Comorbid 
conditions 
that could 
affect the 

association 
e.g.:

- Anxiety
- Depression

- Sleep 
disorders

- Neurological 
disorders

Reduced ability 
to engage with 

self-management 
behaviours

Increased chronic 
pain experiences 
and pain-related 

disability

Reduced capacity/
relatively immature 

executive functioning 
and emotional regulation
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Inspire (continued)
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 2 Examining Scotland’s pioneering campaign to end period poverty

International exchange 
of ideas is central to the 
RSE’s core mission. 
Professor Bettina Bildhauer based in 
the School of Modern Languages at the 
University of St Andrews was granted 
an RSE Arts and Humanities Network 
Award in 2020. With this award Professor 
Bildhauer was able to collaborate with 
researchers based at Purdue University, 
Indiana, USA, to work on understanding 
why Scotland is currently at the forefront 
of campaigns to end period poverty. 

The RSE’s support enabled Bettina and 
the USA network to establish an impartial 
account of the world-leading position of 
Scotland in period poverty, without glorifying 
the campaign and its motivations.

Impacts through knowledge-
creation and knowledge-sharing:

• created impartial account of world-
leading position of Scotland 

• used knowledge of Scottish 
developments to understand and 
predict similar movements against 
menstrual stigma elsewhere

• gave public sector, politicians and 
producers of menstrual products 
in Scotland a more wide-ranging 
understanding of issues involved 

• allowed stakeholders to draw on 
expertise of a new international collective 

• provided impartial forum for 
diverse perspectives 

• planning open-access white paper 
for international use by quangos 
and political decision-makers 

“It’s an amazing 
opportunity to work 
and bond with 
some very talented, 

knowledgeable and 
friendly scholars. 

We’re building a real interdisciplinary 
community that is just at the 
beginning of what I hope will be 
many more collaborations.”

Professor Bettina Bildhauer 
University of St Andrews

Bee Hughes, Lifetime Supply (2017-2019), hand 
painted clay, installation photograph from Periodical, 
curated by Bee Hughes (2018) as part of Being Human 
festival of the humanities. Copyright Bee Hughes
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Inspire (continued)

RSE Enterprise Fellowships  
Now in their 24th year, the RSE’s Enterprise 
Fellowships continue to lead the way 
through a unique approach to supporting 
science and technology researchers 
to become world-class entrepreneurs 
by commercialising their research. 

The Enterprise Fellowship Award offers 
a tailored, equity-free support package 
of funding, training, business networking 
and RSE Entrepreneurs’ Club membership 
– all of which combine to “fast-track” 
the new entrepreneur and enhance their 
personal and business sustainability.

Through cutting-edge business development 
and training, these entrepreneurs have been 
developing innovative new enterprises since 
1997, significantly benefiting Scotland’s 
economy and society. They have created 
highly-skilled jobs, bringing international 
talent and investment to Scotland. They 
have also provided solutions to local, 
national and global challenges in health, 
environment and energy. Their impact 
has been felt not only in Scotland, but 
also across the UK and internationally. 

In 2020-2021, the RSE funded 12 Enterprise 
Fellowships, hosted by ten different Higher 
Education Institutions (HEIs) across the UK. 
These new Enterprise Fellows are supported 
to develop their businesses to a point where 
they can start them up or spin them out.

How does the RSE Enterprise Fellowship  
work? 

There are eight unique design elements 
that combine to form the RSE’s Enterprise 
Fellowship:

Time to focus  
solely on refining 

your business idea

Professional 
networking  

opportunities

One year’s   
academic salary

Access to 
mentorship from 

RSE-affiliated 
business leaders

Cutting-edge 
training in 

business and 
entrepreneurship

Lifetime 
membership of the 

RSE Entrepreneurs’ 
Club

Up to £10,000  
business support 

funding

Hosting status at a 
university or higher 
education institute
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Inspire (continued)

What has been the impact of the RSE 
Enterprise Fellowship Programme?

The following illustration shows the multi-
year legacy of the Programme, including the 
large number of entrepreneurs supported, 
the sustainability of these business start-
ups with an above-industry average survival 
beyond five years, plus the significant 
return on investment. The following two 
case studies give further insights into 
the RSE’s ongoing success story.

M
or

e 
th

an276

93%
25%

46

entrepreneurs have been supported

of Enterprise 
Fellows 
start new 
businesses

*the average
survival rate at 5 

years for spin-
outs and 

technology start-
ups is 45%

The programme creates 
sustainable businesses 
with 81% still operating 
after 5 years*

of 
Enterprise 
Fellows 
have 
started 
multiple 
businesses

Return on investment 
is £9.74 for every  
£1 spent*

*UK-wide
figure
from 2019
evaluation

UK academic 
institutions 

2,500 Enterprise 
Fellowships 
have been 
awarded across

O
ve

r

jobs have
been created
in the UK
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 1 Solaris Kit

Dr Faisal Ghani was awarded 
the RSE Enterprise Fellowship 
in Spring 2020, with an exciting 
business proposition, Solaris Kit.
SolarisKit is a low-cost, flat-packable solar 
thermal collector. With its unique prismatic 
shape it is capable of converting sunlight 
directly into heat in the form of hot water.

Faisal aims to take his technology to Rwanda, 
where currently up to 40% of household 
income is spent on energy, with 70% of 
that going towards heating hot water. 

It is hoped that SolarisKit will significantly 
improve the lives of millions of people in 
the developing world by providing clean, 
affordable energy, whilst also reducing 
carbon emissions. By 2025, Dr Faisal 
Ghani is aiming to install more than 
90,000 collectors, annually saving over 27 
million kilograms of carbon emissions.

“By focusing on the development 
of low-cost, high-value solar 
technology, our goal is to lower global 
carbon emissions while helping 
to improve the lives of millions of 
people in the developing world.”

Dr Faisal Ghani  
Founder and CEO of SolarisKit
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Inspire (continued)
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 2 Earth Blox

Dr Genevieve Patenaude’s 
RSE Enterprise Fellowship 
funded the commercialisation 
of Earth Blox, a company that 
removes the barriers to the 
democratisation of global 
satellite data and intelligence. 
Dr Patenaude’s mission is to open 
access planetary-scale satellite insights 
to help the world address critical global 
challenges such as climate change, 
deforestation, disaster and poverty.

Earth Blox is a cloud-based mapping 
software which democratises access to 
planetary scale satellite intelligence by 
removing the need for coding skills and deep 
domain expertise. With Earth Blox, anyone 
can create their own satellite data application. 
Being cloud-based means that it can be used 
anywhere and requires low bandwidth.

Earth Blox makes satellite imagery accessible 
to everyone when boots-on-the-ground are 
not possible (with Covid-19 travel restrictions 
being a particular case-in-point). With its 
global reach, Earth Blox will strive in the 
years to come to raise Scotland’s profile and 
strengthen its connections with the world.

“Satellite data is nearly ubiquitous and 
can help better understand how the 
Earth is changing, improve decision 
making, inform policy and deliver 
emergency relief. With satellites, we 
can now monitor many of the physical, 
economic and social characteristics 
of the Earth. The power of satellite 
intelligence combined with artificial 
intelligence and machine learning 
is huge and continues to grow”. 

Dr Genevieve Patenaude 
CEO of Earth Blox
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Inspire (continued)

Young Academy of Scotland (YAS)
The RSE supports the Young Academy 
of Scotland (YAS) to drive change 
within Scotland and internationally. 

YAS is committed to addressing social issues 
and informing public debate, making sure 
they listen to those who are marginalised. 
To support this commitment, YAS’ 120 
members are diverse, aged from mid-20s to 
early 40s, coming from all areas of business, 
third sector, public life and academia. 

To structure their work and maximise impact, 
YAS focusses on five “Grand Challenges”. 

The following three challenges show the 
breadth of YAS’ work in the past year: 

A well-informed society: in partnership 
with the RSE, YAS has been involved 
in a range of work around the future of 
tertiary education, with a focus on the lived 
experiences of learners and practitioners

Zero carbon by 2045: ahead of COP26, 
YAS is developing an interactive map 
of Scotland capturing the perceptions 
and representations of the marine 
environment and coastal communities

Increasing Scotland’s positive role in 
the world: YAS became a member of the 
Young Academies Science Advice Structure 
(YASAS), a mechanism for early- and 
mid-career scientists across Europe to 
feed into international policy-making

Members of the RSE’s Young Academy of Scotland (photo from 2019).
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 1 #YASBlogsCOVID

Covid-19 has had profound 
impacts on all sectors of 
society, with further ripple 
effects to come in the 
medium and long term. 
Through a series of blogs YAS analysed 
how the pandemic has affected different 
people, places, professions, and practices. 
This blog series looked not only at the impact 
of Covid-19, but also at what changes in 
behaviour and practice might result or be 
required. The series was forward-looking, 
presenting a series of recommendations for 
policymakers and practitioners to consider 
as we learn lessons from the pandemic.

Between September 2020 and March 
2021, YAS published 15 articles on 
a wide range of topics including:

• The exacerbation of health inequalities 
during the pandemic, and how 
healthcare services must be streamlined 
to ensure equal access for all

• What lessons can be taken from 
Covid-19 lockdowns to improve 
Scotland’s research culture

• The benefits of participatory approaches 
to democracy, and their particular 
significance in the emerging data society

• How the music industry can recover 
from Covid-19 lockdowns

• The role of social prescribing in 
Scotland’s recovery from Covid-19
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 2 Children’s Voice Competition

As YAS considered its next 
set of Grand Challenges, they 
thought it was important 
to ask Scotland’s children 
about their aspirations for the 
future and the big problems 
they want us to tackle. 
YAS held a creative competition, asking 
children aged 8 – 14 to submit a poster or 
short animation to present their ideas and 
persuade YAS members to select them 
as one of their next Grand Challenges.

YAS received 54 entries which were judged 
by a panel of YAS members. The competition 
winners were awarded book tokens, 
generously sponsored by CMS Scotland.

All the competition finalists and winners had 
their entries displayed in an exhibition on 
the Young Academy of Scotland website.  
YAS also produced a short video featuring 
interviews with some of the children 
about their Grand Challenge ideas.

““Thank you so much for 
encouraging the children to 
think and have a say about how 
Scotland’s tomorrow should be.”

Parent of a participating child

Rubin Llulla, 
age 12 
(First place 
secondary, 
poster 
category)

Peadar 
O’Dwyer, 
age 10 
(First place 
primary, 
poster 
category)
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The RSE’s engagement with wider 
society is central to our mission of 
“knowledge made useful”. We achieve 
this across Scotland through: 

• creating opportunities for all 
members of the public to learn 
from world-leading experts 

• inspiring school students

• supporting discussion and shared 
learning on issues of national 
and international importance 

• providing a safe space for debate on 
challenging topics and questions

Our reach: Like many organisations across 
Scotland, we moved our public engagement 
activities online in 2020/21 which allowed 
us to increase our reach, with people both 
viewing and speaking at our events from all 
around the world. We recorded our events, so 
they can be viewed at any time, enhancing 
accessibility and impact and providing 
us with a digital record of our outreach. 

Our approach: The move to digital 
engagement also allowed us to develop 
new approaches to engagement throughout 
the year. We hosted our first ever virtual 
‘Hack’ on fake news and organised a drop-in 
event where the public could join at a time 
that suited them, to discuss “the quality of 
public debate during the pandemic”. We 
also greatly increased our use of interactive 
methods such as digital whiteboards, live 
illustrations, polls and videos. Together, these 
new processes and practices increased 
the RSE’s effectiveness and accessibility. 

We piloted an online school talks programme 
in Autumn 2020. We brought science and 
arts to life, helping school-aged children 
to see and talk first-hand with world-
leading researchers. Going online meant 
we could include several schools from 
across Scotland at each talk as we were 
not restricted by venue size or location. 

Engage on key 
contemporary 
issues by 
providing an 
impartial forum 
for public 
debate and 
discussion.

Engage

Watch a video on  
Public Engagement

https://youtube.com/playlist?list=PLDDx0l6rOAyt8QaxVe42IJtoy3USgxSBM
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Engage (continued)

Our expertise: the breadth of expertise and 
backgrounds of the RSE’s 1,600+ Fellows 
means we can cover a broad spread of 
engagement subjects, often in one event. For 
example: from space technology to youth 
debate on climate change; and from the 
future of foreign policy to communicating 
public health advice during the pandemic. 

Thanks to Fellows’ input and support, in 
2020-21 we reached community groups, 
young people, adults, and school-aged 
children through a mix of interactive events 
such as roundtables, Tea & Talk discussions, 
podcasts, debates, blogs and talks including:

• Curious: our second year of the 
summer events programme, online 
in 2020, focusing on the themes of 
Innovation & Invention, Our Planet 
and Health and Wellbeing

• RSE Investigates…AI: a mini-series 
of talks and online content on the 
topic of Artificial Intelligence

• Throwback Thursdays: a series of events 
highlighting past RSE activities including 
our Women in Science exhibition and 
Innovators Prize for Public Engagement 

• Partner events: with the 

• Royal Academy of Engineering 
on space technology

• Scottish Consortium for 
Rural Research youth debate 
on climate change

• Royal Institute of Philosophy 
on misunderstood risks 
of climate change

• Royal Botanic Gardens Edinburgh 
on halting plant extinction

• At-Risk-Academic Refugees (ARAR):  
discussion event featuring five of 
the Young Academy of Scotland’s 
ARAR members with Glasgow-based 
portrait painter I.D Campbell 

• Annual MacCormick European 
Lecture: Future of Foreign Policy

• Post Covid-19 Futures Commission:  
including:

• Kirsty Wark FRSE interview 
with Janey Godley on the role 
that the arts and comedy have 
come to play in communicating 
‘the science’ and public health 
advice during the pandemic;

• Chatham House media workshop 
bringing together: frontline 
journalists reporting the pandemic; 
scientific experts handling regular 
media exposure; and specialist 
intermediaries who have to make 
scientific knowledge accessible.

43,745 views of RSE 
events that have been 
held since 1 April 2020

Over 32,000 views 
of Voices of Covid: 
Kirsty Wark and Janey 
Godley in conversation 

3,370 attendees at RSE 
events held in 2020/2021

1,179 attendees at RSE Curious 
summer programme 2020

480 attendees at the 
RSE/RBGE Halting 
Plant Extinction event

34 events held as part of Curious

RSE Public Engagement in Figures:

95% of attendees 
who responded to the 
Curious evaluation 
would attend an 
RSE event again

95%
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 1 Curious

The RSE virtually opened 
its doors to the public from 
7 – 29 August for its second 
year of the summer events 
programme Curious. 
In 2020, the programme covered three 
main themes: Innovation and Invention, 
Health and Wellbeing, and Our Planet. The 
online events mainly comprised of ‘Tea 
& Talks’, a group discussion format that 
was successfully launched in the 2019 

programme, and more traditional online 
lectures and panel discussions.

All events were free and hosted 
using the online platform Zoom. 
A new microsite was designed to 
host the programme, showing all 

events of the 2020 Programme. 
Curious was launched with the 

MacCormick Lecture which was delivered 
by Baroness Ashton who spoke on The 
Future of Foreign Policy and the programme 
continued with daily events in varied formats.  

Below are the figures for Curious 2019 
and 2020 that show, although there was 
a smaller programme with less than half 
the number of 2019 events, we achieved 
86% of the 2019 attendee total. In 
addition, the average attendance across 
events increased from 2019. We believe 
this is attributable to the easy access of 
attending online, greater international 
reach, and no limit on venue capacity. 

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Engage (continued)

2019 2020

Total Events 77 34

Tea & Talks 34 25

Other Events 43 9

Total Registrations unknown 2058

Total Attendees 1369 1179

Attendance Rate unknown 54%

Average Tea & 
Talk Attendance 9 17

Average Event 
Attendance 25 83

Designing a Feminist 
Alexa – An Exercise 
in Empathic Design
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 1 Feedback for Curious 2020

Feedback surveys were shared 
with attendees after every 
event and we received 313 
responses (27% response rate, 
industry average 10-30%). 
From the completed surveys, 70% had 
previously attended RSE events, 95% 
would attend again and 0% responded 
saying they would not attend another RSE 
event showing an enthusiasm to engage 
actively with contemporary topics. 

The feedback evidence also shows that 
Curious activities are supporting the 
public to gain new knowledge and skills:

Figure: Attendees’ change in understanding  
the event’s topic

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Engage (continued)

Open-ended feedback from attendees was  
also enthusiastic: 

20245 6210

1: 
Become 
less clear

3: 
Remained 
the same

2: 4: 5: 
Improved

“Great we are getting these 
lectures on Zoom. Think 

this should continue after 
RSE building reopens for 

those not able to physically 
access events in person.”

“This was a wonderful event: 
very informative but also easy to 

follow. Thank you very much!”

“It’s great to engage directly 
with scientists and hearing 

about the work in their field.’”

“Thank you - a brilliant panel  
and I so agree with the 

comment at the end about 
bringing the voices of successful 
women to the fore for young 

people to see and hear.”

“I am delighted 
that RSE exist and 

contribute so effectively 
to the world. I am most 

appreciative that lay 
persons are included 

in the discussions, 
myself for one.”

“This was 
the best of 
the ones 

I have 
attended 

this 
summer 
- most 

lively and 
interactive”
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 2 RSE/Royal Academy of Engineering joint event - 
Bringing Space Down to Earth

The RSE held its first 
online event in May 2020, 
organised in partnership 
with the Royal Academy 
of Engineering (RAEng). 
Together we brought together a panel of 
experts, including RSE and RAEng Fellow 
Professor Colin McInnes, to discuss the ways 
in which space technology is used and how 
Scotland is helping lead the way in developing 
the space technologies of the future. 

The audience were shown four pre-
recorded speaker presentations prior 
to initial discussion then a live Q & A 
session chaired by RSE President, 
Professor Dame Anne Glover. A total 
of 58 questions were asked during the 
event with 17 questions answered live. 

The online nature of the event enabled 
the RSE to reach new audiences, with 
207 participants viewing the event from 
countries around the world including India, 
Qatar and Colombia. A recording of the 
event is also available on the RSE’s YouTube 
account and has been viewed 209 times. 

The event offered an impartial forum 
for public debate and discussion on the 
topic of space technologies and helped 
promote Scotland’s interest and reputation 
in this area on the global stage.

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Engage (continued)

“I’ll use this information learnt in the 
future to [consider] future career 
opportunities after academia” 

“I wouldn’t’ have attended in person”

“It was interesting with well-informed 
speakers and functioning technology! 
I only wish my lectures were as good!”

Participants

Out of 60 responses on 
the Mentimeter form, 
approx. 1/3 of people 
had a lot of knowledge 
about the RSE, 1/3 had 
some knowledge and 
1/3 had low or no prior 
knowledge of the RSE
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The RSE plays a key role in making 
sure that Scotland’s policy makers have 
access to the best expertise. This is 
founded on the contributions our 1,600+ 
Fellows, who regularly and freely provide 
independent expertise from their diverse 
backgrounds across business, public 
service and academia. This includes through 
participating in wide-ranging debates on 
contemporary issues of national importance 
to policy and society and contributing to 
advice papers, reports and briefings. This 
advice enables RSE to provide evidence at 
committees and meetings with Members 
of the Scottish and UK Parliaments (MSPs 
and MPs) and helps inform discussions 
with civil servants within the Scottish 
and UK Governments on key issues. 

We are driven by making knowledge useful. 
Complex ideas, evidence and perspectives 
are translated into clear messages that 
inform and shape policy for the good of 
the Scottish economy and society. 

RSE’s policy impact and engagement
The RSE’s policy work combines quick 
turnaround responses to urgent policy 
questions with longer-term engagement on 
larger, national shifts in policies or resources.  

In 2020–2021, our expert advice 
included responses to the: 

• Interim report of the Just 
Transition Commission

• UK Withdrawal from the EU 
(Continuity) (Scotland) Bill

• UK Internal Market White Paper

• Environment, Natural Resources and 
Agriculture Research Strategy

• Shared Prosperity Fund

• Equity in the STEM Workforce inquiry

• Public Engagement Strategy 
for Climate Change

Provide Expertise  
to ensure that 
Scotland’s policy 
makers and 
influencers have 
access to the 
best national,  
and indeed  
global, expertise.

Provide Expertise

Watch a video on  
Policy Advice

https://youtube.com/playlist?list=PLDDx0l6rOAyuc9Rj9VeBxjWqb52rMckVQ
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Provide Expertise (continued)

On-going engagement during  
2020–2021
Our breadth of policy coverage on longer-
term issues this year included: building 
partnerships with other devolved national 
academies; digital innovation and artificial 
intelligence; research and development; 
and the tertiary education sector.

We continued to support the Learned 
Societies’ Group (LSG) on Scottish STEM 
Education. We provided responses to 
Professor Mark Priestley’s rapid review of 
the 2020 National Qualifications Experience. 
We also responded to the various SQA 
developments in light of Covid-19, looking 
at their particular impacts on science, 
technology, engineering and mathematics 
(STEM) learning and teaching. Both the 
LSG and RSE Education Committee were 
invited to contribute oral evidence to the 
OECD’s review of Curriculum for Excellence.

The RSE initiates and supports a wide range of activities which enhance Scotland’s involvement in global collaboration.
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 1 Establishment of the Celtic Academies Alliance

Building on a developing 
portfolio of joint activity and 
discussions, in March 2021, 
the RSE, Learned Society of 
Wales (LSW) and the Royal 
Irish Academy (RIA) launched 
the Celtic Academies Alliance. 
The Alliance: 

• Provides independent expert advice 
on higher education and research 
matters and other shared key issues

• Supports the development of more 
effective UK intergovernmental relations, 
especially in the post-Brexit context 

• Works to ensure that the UK 
Government and its bodies take proper 
account of the needs and differing 
situations of the devolved nations

How it works

The Alliance pools the wide-ranging 
expertise and practitioner experience 
across the RSE, LSW and RIA Fellowships 
to inform public policy developments at 
both the UK level and within the devolved 
nations, with a particular focus on higher 
education and policy. It does this by:

• Organising meetings and events 
that bring together policy makers, 
researchers and other stakeholders

• Strengthening connections between the 
national academies and UK government 
departments and research bodies

• Producing briefing papers and 
joint responses to government and 
parliamentary calls for evidence

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Provide Expertise (continued)

Impact

The Alliance has helped strengthen 
the voice of the academies in the 
devolved nations in working to ensure 
that the different needs and priorities 
of the devolved nations are considered 
as UK Government develops higher 
education and research policy. 

The academies jointly responded 
(August 2020) to the UK Government 
consultation on the R&D Roadmap. 
This response has resulted in direct 
and sustained engagement with BEIS 
and UKRI, including a roundtable of 
15 Fellows with a diverse range of 
Research and Development (R&D) 
expertise and experience to contribute 
to the R&D People and Culture Strategy. 

The academies worked in partnership 
with the Foundation for Science & 
Technology, using its convening 
power to organise a discussion 
(October 2020) bringing together 20 
Fellows from across the academies 
from a wide range of backgrounds 
to identify and discuss R&D priorities 
and needs in the devolved nations. 

Following the launch of the Alliance, 
there has been interest in how other 
organisations can engage. Meetings 
are being held to discuss opportunities 
for making connections that support 
Scotland’s R&D ambitions. 

https://www.rse.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/CAA-leaflet-final.pdf
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 2 Future of Further and Higher Education in Scotland

Throughout 2020-21 the 
RSE has engaged with 
government, agencies, and 
parliamentarians on the 
future of further and higher 
education in Scotland, in the 
context of Brexit and Scotland’s 
post-Covid-19 recovery. 
How it works

Our policy advice work included hosting 
four roundtable discussions with SFC 
(August 2020-April 2021) to inform different 
stages of the SFC’s major review into the 
coherence of provision and sustainability 
of universities and colleges in Scotland.

The RSE also convened a roundtable 
(February 2021) with cross-party MPs 
from the Westminster Scottish Affairs 
Committee as part of their inquiry 
on Universities and Scotland. 
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Provide Expertise (continued)

Impact

These roundtables demonstrate the 
convening power of the RSE, where we 
bring together a multidisciplinary range 
of Fellows, Young Academy members 
and external ‘critical friends’ to inform 
and influence major inquiries. 

They also showcase the added value 
and highly-regarded contribution 
that the RSE makes, marshalling 
voices, perspectives, expertise and 
experience that may be more difficult 
for government and its agencies to 
reach. The RSE’s independence also 
allows us to pose questions that may 
be more difficult for others to raise. 

In addition, Professor Becky Lunn 
(RSE Council Member at the time) 
represented the RSE at an oral 
evidence session of the Scottish 
Affairs Committee in November 
2020 as part of its Universities and 
Scotland inquiry. This demonstrates 
the value that parliamentary 
committees place on the expertise, 
experience and evidence that 
the RSE can bring forward. 

These contributions have helped 
to strengthen our profile and 
relationships with government, key 
agencies and influential parliamentary 
committees, among others. 
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The RSE’s mission of “knowledge made 
useful” is brought to life across the globe 
through our showcasing of Scotland’s 
research, working with 29 other national 
academies, and collaborating with individuals 
and groups worldwide. During 2020-2021, 
we have supported collaboration and 
activity between international partners 
and Scotland’s researchers through 
online means. Together we have delivered 
virtual workshops, debates and projects, 
focusing particularly on those that lead 
to longer-term, innovative relationships. 

In 2020–2021, the RSE: 

• organised, hosted and supported 
15+ online international meetings

• enabled input from, and networking 
between, 50+ international and 
75+ of Scotland’s stakeholders 

• benefitted from RSE Fellows 
giving 350+ hours of their 
expertise on a voluntary basis 

• raised awareness of world-class 
research and innovation from Scotland 
and offered new programmes of 
funding to Scottish based researchers 
and their international counterparts

• informed and developed various science 
and international-focused agendas 
during the Covid-19 pandemic

• supported new strategic partnerships 
such as our commitment as a 
founding partner to the Scottish 
Council on Global Affairs.

Our shared activities focus on creating 
opportunities for: individual and/or 
community development; a more resilient 
economy; and protecting Scotland’s 
environment for future populations. As 
a National Academy, we achieve these 
outcomes mainly through using research 
methods and evidence to address shared 
national and international challenges.

Promote 
Scotland’s 
interests and 
reputation on 
the global stage.

Promote

Watch a video on  
International

https://youtu.be/xSExOfEqk8Y
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Promote (continued)

Throughout the past year, the RSE has 
reiterated its commitment to international 
partnerships. In an effort to respond to 
the ongoing global Covid-19 pandemic, 
the organisation has endeavoured to 
support international connections between 
Scottish-based academics and international 
collaborators across the globe through 
a number of multilateral endeavours. 

Throughout 2020-2021, the RSE 
awarded 30 international grants 
across five different schemes:

• The Scotland Asia Partnerships Higher 
Education Research fund (SAPHIRE):  
funded seven projects between Scotland-
based researchers and collaborators in 
India and Pakistan. The themes range 
from water and renewable energy to 
technology and data and innovation

• International Bilateral Visits: three 
visits were funded in partnership 
with Ministry of Science and 
Technology of Taiwan (MOST) 

• International Joint Projects: nine 
projects were supported in collaboration 
with the National Natural Science 
Foundation of China (NSFC). These 
aim to tackle the topics of public health 
management, explore new technologies 
to enhance the accuracy of coronavirus 
diagnoses, along with researching 
more efficient ways to dispense broad-
spectrum anti-coronavirus drugs

• National Research Council of Italy 
(CNR): three projects were funded in 
Europe, with awardees working on topics 
as diverse as the capture of greenhouse 
gases against climate change, the decay 
of historic stone masonry in a changing 
environment and the enhancement 
of low carbon building performance

• RSE COP26 International Climate 
Change Network Grant: funded 
eleven projects ahead of the Glasgow 
COP26 supporting networks with 
priority countries, among them 
Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Malawi, 
Papua New Guinea and Uganda
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 1 Supporting Global Challenges through Collaboration

Sustainability is not only a 
Scottish challenge but a  
global one. 
The RSE has been working collaboratively 
with over 21 Commonwealth Countries 
as part of the Commonwealth 
Science Academies Network. 

Our aim is to help address shared challenges 
of climate change, loss of animal and 
plant species (biodiversity) and support 
sustainable development for all citizens.

Commonwealth academies 
collaboration helps us to:

• Identify critical problems related to 
climate change faced by societies 

• Be informed by the global research 
community to support sustainable 
economic growth in high-productivity 
sectors; provide cheap, clean energy to 
off-grid communities; improve public 
health by addressing impacts of climate 
change and biodiversity loss; increase 
public engagement to empower local 
communities and future generations

• Provide a platform for academies 
to highlight these problems to 
Commonwealth Heads of Government

• Influence policy-maker decisions 
and actions required both by 
governments, academies and society

On 5th June 2020, World Environment 
day, the Commonwealth Science 
Academies, including  the RSE, collectively 
launched a statement on climate 
change, biodiversity and sustainable 
energy. The statement supports joint 
working to inform and influence the 
forthcoming 26th Commonwealth Heads 
of Government meeting (CHOGM) 2021.
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Promote (continued)

Impact

• New programmes of global research 
jointly identified as priorities

• New priorities highlighted to 
Commonwealth Heads of 
Government to inform urgent 
policy making and decisions

• Increased capacity building on these 
priorities at CHOGM meeting to 
inform global policy through climate 
negotiations at COP26 and COP15

• New thematic priorities identified 
by the RSE such as Scotland’s 
society is treated fairly in our 
transition (Climate Justice)

This is part of wider global collaboration 
on climate change including:

• RSE and Scottish stakeholders’ 
discussion on living with climate 
change for small islands 
(Scottish and globally)

• Building foundations for new 
RSE collaborations such as 
with Germany on climate 
justice in October 2021

• New priorities for RSE collaboration 
on climate change with the 
African Academy of Sciences 

https://www.rse.org.uk/world-environment-day-global-pandemic-highlights-importance-governments-working-together-climate-crisis/
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 2 Knowledge Made Mutually Useful

Developing strategic 
partnerships is at the heart of 
our international work to ensure 
we engage with opportunities 
around the globe to showcase 
the best of Scottish research and 
drive international collaboration. 
Given the huge diversity, energy and 
innovation found across Africa, the 
RSE is building mutual pan-African 
partnerships across the continent.

Pan-African collaboration helps us to:

• Promote international 
collaboration through research 
and innovation partnerships 

• Establish and develop “mutual 
mentoring” whereby the RSE and 
African academies and scholars 
can learn from each other equally

• Jointly work on global challenges such 
as: the impacts of Covid-19, climate 
change, biodiversity loss, sustainable 
development, low carbon energy systems

• Support greater engagement to empower 
local communities and future generations

• Engage in dialogue and collaboration 
with scholars in Africa countries 
on the slave trade and jointly learn 
from and address our past

A small group of Fellows, experts and 
practitioners were convened to form the RSE 
Africa Working Group. As a commitment of 
its intention and values, the group developed 
the statement “Knowledge Made Mutually 
Useful”, with its aim to support positive long-
term international relations between the RSE 
and national academies of African countries.
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Promote (continued)

Impact

New framework of values to support 
positive mutual partnership building

New partnership between the 
RSE and African Academy of 
Sciences to support research 
and innovation collaboration

New research scoping project to 
begin to understand extent of RSE’s 
involvement in the slave trade

External funding attracted to contribute 
to capacity building initiatives 
around scientific programmes

New “reciprocal mentorship style” 
model to support mutual Scottish-
African scholar knowledge exchange 
and project development

Increased networking and involvement 
from multiple stakeholders 
helping to support positive long-
term international relations

The African Academy of Sciences 
is based in Nairobi, Kenya
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The RSE grants funding and awards to recognise excellence and support leading research
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Conscious of our responsibilities 
as Scotland’s National Academy, 
in May 2020 we established the 
Post-Covid Futures Commission 
bringing together the expertise 
of Fellows with others in 
business, the public and third 
sectors, to support Scotland in 
emerging as positively as it can 
from the current pandemic. 
The Commission met for the first time in 
May 2020 via Zoom and continued its work 
through regular Commission meetings 
with four Working Groups delivering 
programmes of work under four key themes:

• Building National Resilience

• Data, Evidence and Science

• Inclusive Public Service

• Public Debate and Participation

The Commission will conclude its hands-
on activity in 2021 with findings being 
integrated into the RSE’s wider work. 

The Four Working Groups 
were focused on the 
following key objectives:
Building National Resilience: to consider 
what a resilient nation looks like, identify 
the key threats and challenges facing 
Scotland, and explore how resilience 
can be built and developed.

Data, Evidence and Science: to enhance 
Scotland’s ability to effectively utilise 
data, evidence and science, in preparing 
for and responding to major challenges 
and to support or enhance wellbeing. 

Inclusive Public Service: to learn from our 
best public service behaviours, practices and 
outcomes so that more people can benefit 
from them across Scotland as a whole.

Public Debate and Participation: to 
examine how the public has been 
informed and engaged during the crisis, 
and the extent of participation in decision-
making over the pandemic; consider 
how we build on this experience. 

The following two pages give a few highlights 
from each of the four themes. To find out 
more, visit the Commission microsite: 
https://www.rsecovidcommission.org.uk

The RSE Post-Covid Futures Commission

Watch a video on  
Post-Covid Futures Commission

https://www.rsecovidcommission.org.uk
https://youtu.be/5f2nAucwj_c
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Members of the Post Covid Futures Commission meeting online in May 2020

The RSE Post-Covid Futures Commission (continued)
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 1 Virtual Hack

The RSE organised its first 
virtual hack in March 2021. 
We invited individuals from various 
backgrounds and experiences to tackle 
the following question, ‘How can we tackle 
the spread of “fake news” and build public 
knowledge and trust in sound science?’ 

The key aim of this activity was to recruit 
voices that represented a range of different 
group, so we used the following criteria:

• working in the private, public, 
academic, or third sector

• parent/carers 

• across the age spectrum

• good gender balance

• minoritised groups 

• producers and consumers of information

Participants were divided into four groups of 
12 or 13, each with a facilitator and a note-
taker. Every group was provided with a unique 
scenario to help them answer the question. 

RSE piloted a new engaging, inclusive, and 
effective format which meant that we were 
able to reach, and work with, groups with 
whom we have not traditionally engaged. 
Individuals from different backgrounds 
were provided with an equal platform to 
contribute towards an important issue. We 
will continue to use these more inclusive 
approaches to broaden our reach.
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The RSE Post-Covid Futures Commission (continued)

      of participants  
      would consider 
themselves to have 
learning disabilities.

of participants were 
young people.

of participants were 
non-academics.

14%

33%

70%
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 2 Community films

The RSE commissioned Ellie 
Hutchinson to make films 
with users and facilitators of 
people-centred community 
support and services. 
Through these films we have gained insights 
about the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
and how people have created and used 
support to help them through. The films were 
part of the Inclusive Public Service working 
group’s wider work to identify projects and 
structures which promote and enable self-
directed care and community support.

Six organisations were involved: Distress 
Brief Intervention (DBI), ENABLE Scotland, 
Glasgow Life, Paths for All, Scottish Ballet 
and Trojan Theatre. They each helped identify 
people using their services to tell their stories 
about what it means to have services meet 
their needs, and what it means to have their 
needs met in ways that work for them. 

People also show what it means to be seen 
in all their complexity, with many occupying 
multiple marginalised identities. Using 
participatory film making, Ellie worked 
with 27 people, creating space for them to 
explore inclusive public services and the 
impact such services have had for them.

Click on this link to watch Ellie introducing 
the key principles of her work, her 
creative approaches and tools, and 
explaining why the films are important.

Click on this link to watch the films!
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The RSE Post-Covid Futures Commission (continued)

“For me, it’s all part of the same 
picture. It’s different ways to talk 
about the same thing, which is how 
do we all work together to create 
equal societies where all our voices 
are heard, where our identities are 
respected, and that we’re safe and that 
we are able to express ourselves.” 

Ellie Hutchinson

https://www.dbi.scot/
https://www.dbi.scot/
https://www.enable.org.uk/
https://www.glasgowlife.org.uk/
https://www.pathsforall.org.uk/
https://www.scottishballet.co.uk/
https://www.trojanwomenproject.org/
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 3 Party Conferences

The RSE organised panel events 
at the Scottish party political 
conferences in Autumn 2020 
and Spring 2021 as part of the 
work of the Building National 
Resilience working group. 

The five online panel discussions 
brought together politicians, conference 
attendees, RSE Fellows and Young 
Academy of Scotland members to discuss 
what a resilient nation looks like. 

The autumn discussions identified cross-
cutting themes, including: inequalities 
highlighted by the pandemic; how resilience 
can be measured; community resilience; the 
adaptability of business; and the opportunity 
to think creatively and do things differently. 
The sessions in spring were immensely 
valuable as they enabled the working 
group to ‘road test’ its emerging findings. 

In total, 274 people attended the five 
events. The discussions also stimulated 
debate and participation through our social 
media channels and received positive 
feedback from participants and panel 
members. A blog on our engagement at 
the autumn party conferences is available 
at www.rsecovidcommission.org.uk. 
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The RSE Post-Covid Futures Commission (continued)

“I would like thank RSE for hosting 
such a thought provoking event on 
questions of fundamental importance 
to how we rebuild from the pandemic 
and meet the challenges of a climate 
& nature emergency… A further 
example of RSE fulfilling its mission 
to encourage and support debate.”

Liam McArthur 
MSP, Scottish Liberal Democrats

“The RSE panel event provided a great 
discussion and was a standout fringe 
event of the conference. It focused on 
topics that I think we should look at 
discussing more at future events.”

Stewart McDonald 
MP, Scottish National Party

https://www.rsecovidcommission.org.uk/
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In 2020-2021, the RSE 
scoped out and developed 
the groundwork for a new 
strategic approach to steer 
the RSE’s national, regional 
and local programming of 
activity, to underpin RSE as 
Scotland’s national academy 
for the whole of Scotland. 

This work underpins how the RSE develops 
coherent activity across the length and 
breadth of Scotland, while ensuring that 
insights from across Scotland inform 
RSE’s strategic direction and priorities.

Fellows and partners across rural 
and urban Scotland are central to the 
success of the RSE’s new approach of 
engagement, dialogue and outreach. 

Approach
The new approach identifies three inter-connected tiers: 

National tier: strengthens our existing Scotland-wide work in partnership across Scotland.

Strategic Regional Approach

Watch a video on  
Regional Strategy

https://youtu.be/RhKtl-Wr_AE
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Strategic Regional Approach (continued)

Regional tier: a new, rotating, three-year focus of coherent activity delivered with key 
partners supported by regional advisory groups. The four regions of Scotland across 
which we will organise our outreach and engagement with Fellows and stakeholders 
are: North & West; East; Central; and South. These areas are illustrated in the map.

Local tier: a new, two-year, rotating, place-based series of activity developing further our 
“RSE@” programme with partners across Scotland.

We look forward to working with new stakeholders to ensure knowledge continues to be made 
useful across the country.
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Work continued on 
improving the RSE’s external 
communications to ensure a 
high standard of output and 
increased level of engagement. 
The territory of podcasting was explored with 
the introduction of Tea and Talk, the RSE’s first 
podcast series, where various RSE Fellows 
were interviewed on their area of expertise 
in relation to Covid-19. Two series were 
recorded and downloaded in total over 2,000 
times. Future series are planned in 2021.

Enhanced marketing of our awards schemes, 
including better designed material and an 
increase in the range of communication 
channels used to promote them, saw 
a marked increase in the number of 
applications for RSE awards. This included 
calls for bilateral grants with China, Italy and 
Ireland and also the newly-launched RSE 
Reboot Research Awards for those whose 
academic productivity was impacted by 
Covid-19 and for funding of COP 26-related 
international research networks. 

The RSE’s media profile continued to be 
raised through a collaboration with The 
Times where RSE Covid Commissioners 
produced articles for a weekly series 
over the winter on different perspectives 
on the pandemic; and a new fortnightly 
opinion series with The Scotsman called 
Inside Science, penned by RSE Fellows 
with science backgrounds. Significant 
coverage was also secured for several 
projects including the PostCovid-19 Futures 
Commission, its activities and also the 
announcement of our New Fellows.

Following its successful revamp in 2019-
20 to place a greater emphasis on sharing 
expertise the new look RSE magazine 
Resource continued with contributions from 
Fellows, RSE awardees, Enterprise Fellows 
and YAS members. Identifying a theme for 
each edition has helped provide a coherence 
and focus connected to other RSE work 
and key societal issues such as Covid-19.

Emphasis was placed on generating more 
video content for the RSE’s YouTube 
channel including through recording events 
and posting them afterwards to reach 
a wider and more diverse audience.

Better Communicating Our Work

TO APPLY REGISTER HERE

Joint Projects with National 

Research Council of Italy
AWARD | FUNDING

TO APPLY REGISTER HERE

Joint Projects with National Natural 
Science Foundation of China

AWARD | FUNDING

RSE Project Awards.

TO APPLY FOR THE INTERNATIONAL BILATERAL VISITS PROGRAMME REGISTER HERE

International Bilateral 
Visits Programme

AWARD | FUNDING
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The annual report presents an overview of 
RSE’s activities, achievements and impacts 
during 2020-2021. Our extensive public-
facing programme of Inspiring, Engaging, 
Providing Expertise and Promoting Scotland 
is underpinned by internal activity to 
support effective delivery and the long-term 
development of the RSE. This internal work 
has been especially critical in 2020-21 as we 
have required to adapt as an organisation 
to the challenges presented by Covid-19. 

Our priorities for 2020-2021 included: 

• finalising and implementing the new 
Research Awards Programme

• delivering the new Enterprise 
Fellowship Strategy and seeking 
additional funding for the scheme 

• continuing to develop a more inclusive 
approach to our public engagement

• continuing to take steps to 
diversify the RSE’s Fellowship

Good progress has been made on 
these although the impact of Covid-19 
and reorientation of work to support 
the Covid Commission has meant 
that some of this work is ongoing. 

We finalised the new Research 
Awards Programme in June 2020 
with awards structured around four 
pillars: Small Grants; International 
Awards; Workshops and Networks; 
and Personal Research Fellowships

We developed a draft Enterprise Fellowship 
Strategy through discussions with 
Fellows and stakeholders and initiated 
conversations on future funding

We continued to evolve our approach to 
public engagement including making 
better use of digital, a move accelerated by 
Covid-19. While recognising the challenges 
of digital poverty, this enabled us to reach 
out more inclusively across the country 
supported by new forms of engagement 
such as our first ‘hack’, blogs, video 
animations and RSE’s first podcast series.

The annual 
report presents 
an overview of 
RSE’s activities, 
achievements 
and impacts 
during 2020-
2021. 

RSE into the Future
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RSE into the Future (continued)

We remain committed to diversifying 
the Fellowship, recognising excellence 
wherever it occurs, with 2020-21 seeing 
the election of 79 Fellows over half of 
whom came from under-represented 
groups within the Fellowship.

In addition to these strategic commitments, 
we also committed to taking forward 
two operational priorities:

• implementation of a new contact 
relationship management 
(CRM) system and

• redevelopment of our website. 

The CRM was launched in December 
2020 and is being bedded in across 
RSE’s functional activities while the 
new website is in its final stages and 
will go live in summer 2021.

2020–2021 also saw us begin two 
new pieces of strategic work: 

• A regional strategic approach has 
been developed comprising three 
interconnected tiers of activity (national, 
regional and local) underpinned 
by a set of principles to guide the 
approach and ways of working  

• Work also began on development 
of RSE’s next Strategic Framework 
including development of a project 
plan and initial discussions with 
Fellows in a series of roundtables 

Looking ahead
RSE is committed to building on the progress 
of the last few years to further enhance its 
contribution to society. As Scotland’s National 
Academy, we want to ensure that research 
and knowledge is deployed for public benefit, 
mobilising the expertise and experience of 
the Fellowship drawn from the worlds of 
science, the arts, business and public service.

In the coming year, Fellows, staff and 
partners will continue to work together to: 
strengthen Scotland’s research capacity 
and leadership; support innovation; 
influence public policy; raise Scotland’s 
profile in the world; and enable the public 
to contribute to debates on issues of 
national and global significance. 

Priorities for 2021–2022 include:

• developing the new Strategic Framework 
setting out a vision and direction 
for the years ahead informed by 
extensive engagement with Fellows, 
stakeholders and the wider public

• implementing and embedding a 
regional strategic approach as an 
essential underpinning of RSE’s role 
as Scotland’s National Academy 

• concluding and consolidating 
learning from the RSE Post-
Covid-19 Futures Commission 

• building on the experience of Covid-19, 
generating a stronger demand 
for RSE expertise and input
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RSE into the Future (continued)

Implications of Covid-19 
The Covid-19 pandemic had a significant 
impact on the operation of the RSE for the 
entirety of 2020-2021. Staff have worked 
from home throughout the year, with a 
number combining work and childcare, 
and others have been placed on furlough. 
As an organisation, we have adapted to 
doing things in digital rather than physical 
space. We have shifted all our events 
online, including our summer festival, 
Curious, upskilling with a whole new range 
of digital skills shared across the teams. 

The pandemic also had an impact on 
RSE finances, with a reduction in income 
from venue hire and investments. A re-
budgeting exercise was undertaken in-year 
to take account of those implications. 
The impact of Covid-19 has also been 
factored into plans and budgets for 2021-
2022. In both years, an operating loss 
has been forecast. Council is satisfied 
that these short-term financial impacts 
can be absorbed by available reserves.

Subject to Scottish Government guidelines, 
we are planning for a Covid-safe, partial 
return to the building – which has been 
closed since March 2020 – from late 
summer 2021, as well as considering what 
we might offer as a socially-distanced venue.

Recognising our role and responsibility as 
Scotland’s National Academy, RSE moved 
swiftly to establish the Post-Covid-19 
Futures Commission to support Scotland 
emerge as positively as it can from the 
pandemic. You can read more about the 
Commission’s work on pages 38-41. 
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RSE Prizes and Medallists 2020-2021 

In 2020–2021, the RSE awarded its prestigious medals to eminent 
scientists and researchers in recognition of their contributions and 
achievements in their selected fields of study.

The RSE Lord Kelvin Medal and RSE Sir James Black Medal are presented to exceptional 
individuals who have demonstrated lifelong dedication and made outstanding contributions 
to their area of research, business or public service.

The RSE Lord Kelvin Medal: 

Professor Alan William Hood (University 
of St Andrews) received his medal for his 
outstanding work as an internationally 
leading expert in theoretical and 
computational solar physics who has 
made seminal contributions to our 
understanding of the solar atmosphere.  

RSE Innovator’s Prize for Public Engagement: 

Dr Paul O’Mahoney Postdoctoral Research 
Assistant, University of Dundee for his 
passion for engaging the public in his 
University of Dundee research, using a 
range of different mediums to achieve 
this and the work he has done with 
different groups that has had an impact 
on school children to patients alike.

The RSE Sir James Black Medal:

Professor Ian David Duncan (University 
of Wisconsin-Madison) received his 
medal for his pioneering career which 
has transformed our understanding of 
remyelination and laid key foundations 
for treatments of myelin diseases.  

RSE Senior Prize for Public Engagement:

Professor Niamh Nic Daeid Professor of 
Forensic Science and Director of the Leverhulme 
Research Centre for Forensic Science, 
University of Dundee for her work placing public 
engagement at the heart of her research and 
supporting others to do so. It is also awarded 
for her work as an outstanding communicator 
who has connected global audiences with 
her work and created approaches that 
empower the public to contribute to research.
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RSE Prizes and Medallists 2020-2021 (continued) 

The RSE Patrick Neill Medal is for early-career researchers for their outstanding 
contribution to the field of life sciences.

RSE Patrick Neill Medal: 

Dr Luke Graham Boulter (University of 
Edinburgh) was awarded the medal for 
his discovery of a number of processes 
that are required for cancers to develop 
during chronic disease and, through his 
collaboration with industrial partners, his 
identification of a series of therapeutically 
targetable signals that cancers use to 
grow. Outwith his research, Luke is an 
active champion of LGBTQ+ representation 
in biomedicine and speaks on LGBTQ+ 
inclusion and diversity in science.

RSE Royal Medal:

Professor Peter Kennedy CBE, FMedSci, 
FRSE was awarded the Royal Medal for his 
outstanding contribution in distinguishing 
the major human brain cell types paving the 
way to significant advances in the treatment 
of neurological diseases and infections, as 
well as identification of a novel therapy for 
African trypanosomiasis (sleeping sickness).

“I am amazed, honoured and humbled 
in equal measure to be acknowledged 
by Her Majesty the Queen and the Royal 
Society Edinburgh with this award. As 
current events remind us only too well, 
science and the pursuit of new knowledge 
continues to be vital to society. I am 
extremely happy that I have been able 
to play a part in the advancement of 
neurological science and help to cement 
Scotland’s reputation as an innovative 
nation transforming lives globally.

“The award of the Royal Medal also 
reflects very well on the numerous 
scientific collaborators, research 
assistants, technicians, doctoral students 
and post-doctoral researchers with 
whom I have had the very good fortune 
to work over a period of 35 years.”

Professor Peter Kennedy
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RSE New Fellows 2021

Honorary: 
O’NEILL Baroness Onora of 
Bengarve CBE CH  
Philosopher and Crossbench 
Life Peer, House of Lords
Corresponding: 
ANYIDOHO Kofi 
Professor of Literature and 
Poet, University of Ghana
COTTON Philip OBE 
Head, Scholars Program,  
Mastercard Foundation
GILMOUR Ryan 
Chair of Organic Chemistry & 
CiMIC Professor of Chemical 
Biology, University of Münster
IRVINE Alan  
Professor of Dermatology,  
Trinity College Dublin
KURTHS Jürgen 
Professor in Nonlinear 
Dynamics, Humboldt 
University
LENG Mhoira 
Global Health and Palliative 
Care Specialist Physician
RAUTIO James 
CEO, President, Founder,  
Sonnet Software Inc.
Fellows: 
ALBERTI Sam 
Keeper of Science & 
Technology, National 
Museums Scotland
ANDERSON Karen 
Founding Partner, ‘hirta’; 
Architect & Founding Partner, 
Anderson Bell Christie;  
Visiting Professor, Robert 
Gordon University
APPLEBY Malcolm MBE 
Designer and Engraver
BADMAN Clive OBE 
Executive Director, Special 
Projects in Life Sciences,  
University of Strathclyde
BARRATT Christopher 
Professor and Head of 
Division Post Graduate 
Medicine, University of 
Dundee
BELL Derek OBE 
Chair in Medicine & Professor 
for Acute Medicine, Imperial 
College London

BLAIR Kirstie 
Chair in English Studies,  
University of Strathclyde
BOND Helen 
Head of the School of Divinity, 
University Of Edinburgh
BRANIGAN Holly 
Professor of Psychology of 
Language and Cognition  
and Head of School of 
Philosophy, Psychology and 
Language Sciences,  
University of Edinburgh
BRENDLE Tara 
Professor of Mathematics,  
University of Glasgow
BROWN Ian 
Senior Honorary Research 
Fellow in Scottish Literature, 
University of Glasgow;  
Professor Emeritus in 
Drama, Kingston University; 
Playwright and Poet
CARPENTER Malinda 
Professor of Developmental 
Psychology, University of St 
Andrews
COLVIN Calum OBE 
Professor of Fine Art 
Photography and Associate 
Dean of Research, Duncan  
of Jordanstone College of  
Art & Design
CRERAR Lorne CBE 
Chairman, Harper MacLeod 
LLP
CURRAN James MBE 
Chair, Climate Ready Clyde
DEIGHAN Vincent 
Comics & Illustration
DORNELAS Maria 
Reader, School of Biology,  
University of St Andrews
EDDLESTON Michael 
Professor of Clinical 
Toxicology,  
University of Edinburgh
FERGUSON Heather 
Professor of Medical 
Entomology and Disease 
Ecology, University of 
Glasgow
FIRTH Neil 
Director, Pier Arts Centre
FOWLIS Julie 
Singer, musician, voice artist, 
composer, radio and TV 
presenter

FRASER Nick 
Keeper of Natural Sciences,  
National Museums Scotland
GADEGAARD Nikolaj 
Professor of Biomedical 
Engineering, University of 
Glasgow
GILBERT Fiona 
Professor of Radiology and 
Head of Department,  
University of Cambridge
GLENDINNING Paul 
Professor of Applied 
Mathematics, University of 
Manchester
GLOVER Anne CBE 
Co-Founder and CEO,  
Amadeus Capital Partners 
Limited
HAMMILL Faye 
Professor of English 
Literature, University of 
Glasgow
HEALY Susan 
Professor of Biology,  
University of St Andrews
HODGE The Right 
Honourable Lord Patrick 
Deputy President, The 
Supreme Court of the United 
Kingdom
HORNE Andrew 
Professor of Gynaecology 
and Reproductive Sciences,  
University of Edinburgh
HOSKISSON Paul 
Professor of Molecular 
Microbiology, University of 
Strathclyde
HUGHES Kirsty 
Director, Scottish Centre on 
European Relations
HULME Alison 
Professor of Synthesis and 
Chemical Biology, School 
of Chemistry, University of 
Edinburgh
JACKSON Alvin  
Richard Lodge Professor 
of History, University of 
Edinburgh
KIAYIAS Aggelos 
Chair in Cyber Security 
and Privacy, University of 
Edinburgh
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KOZLOVA Olga  
Director of Innovation and 
Industry Engagement,  
University of Strathclyde
LAURIE Nina 
Professor of Geography and 
Development, University of St 
Andrews
LAWTON Linda 
Professor of Environmental 
Microbiology, Robert Gordon 
University
LESLIE Dame Mariot 
Retired, HM Diplomatic 
Service
LUDDEN John CBE 
Bicentennial Research 
Professor, The Lyell Centre,  
Heriot-Watt University
McARA Lesley CBE 
Chair of Penology, Assistant 
Principal Community 
Relations, Director of the 
Edinburgh Futures Institute, 
University of Edinburgh
MACDONALD Louise OBE 
Chief Executive, Young Scot
MACDONALD Malcolm 
Professor and Chair of 
Applied Space Technology,  
University of Strathclyde
McEWEN Nicola 
Professor of Territorial Politics 
and Co-Director, Centre 
on Constitutional Change, 
University of Edinburgh
McGREGOR Heather CBE 
Executive Dean, Edinburgh 
Business School,  
Heriot-Watt University
MACGREGOR Stuart 
Professor, Computational 
Chemistry,Heriot-Watt 
University
McINTOSH Andrew 
Professor of Biological 
Psychiatry and Head of 
Division of Psychiatry,  
University of Edinburgh
McKENNA Paul 
Head of Department of 
Physics, University of 
Strathclyde
McLURE Ross 
Professor of Extragalactic 
Astrophysics, University of 
Edinburgh

McMILLAN Lesley 
Professor of Criminology 
and Sociology, Glasgow 
Caledonian University
MALIK Poonam 
Board Member, Scottish 
Enterprise
MARTI Matthias 
Professor of Molecular 
Parasitology, University of 
Glasgow
MATHIESON Peter 
Principal, University of 
Edinburgh
MELLANBY Richard 
Professor of Comparative 
Medicine, University of 
Edinburgh
MILNE Simon MBE 
Regius Keeper, Royal Botanic 
Garden Edinburgh
MOSSEY Peter 
Professor of Craniofacial 
Development and Consultant 
in Orthodontics, University of 
Dundee
MURPHY Alexander 
Chair of Nuclear and Particle 
Astrophysics, University of 
Edinburgh
NATHWANI Dilip OBE 
Emeritus Honorary Professor 
of Infection, University of 
Dundee
PATTON E. Elizabeth 
Professor, Personal Chair 
of Chemical Genetics, MRC 
Programme Leader, MRC 
Human Genetics Unit
PETILLOT Yvan 
Professor of Robotics and 
Autonomous Systems,  
Heriot-Watt University
PHILP Douglas 
Professor of Systems 
Chemistry, University of St 
Andrews
RILEY Eleanor 
Professor of Immunology and 
Infectious Disease, University 
of Edinburgh
RIVERS Ian 
Professor of Education for 
Social Change, Associate 
Principal and Executive Dean 
of the Faculty of Humanities 
and Social Sciences,  
University of Strathclyde

ROBERTSON Boyd 
Chair, NHS Highland Board
SCHROERS Bernd 
Professor of Mathematics,  
Heriot-Watt University
SEATON Nigel 
Principal and Vice-Chancellor,  
Abertay University
SKEA Jim CBE 
Professor of Sustainable 
Energy, Imperial College 
London
SLOAN Andrew 
Managing Director,  
COWI UK Limited
SMITH Jennifer 
Professor of Sociolinguistics,  
University of Glasgow
SRIDHAR Devi 
Chair in Global Public Health 
and Director, Global Health 
Governance Programme,  
University of Edinburgh
STEVENS Ian 
Chief Executive Officer,  
Bsolve Dental
SWINTON John 
Professor in Practical 
Theology and Pastoral Care,  
University of Aberdeen
TYLER Andrew 
Professor and Deputy Dean, 
Faculty of Natural Sciences,  
University of Stirling
VARGESSON Neil 
Professor in Developmental 
Biology, University of Aberdeen
WAGNER Judy 
Co-founder & Director,  
FWB Park Brown Ltd
WHITE Philip 
Professor of Botany and 
Research Specialist in Plant 
Ecophysiology, The James 
Hutton Institute
WILLIAMS Christopher 
Chair of Machine Learning,  
University of Edinburgh
WILSON Jim 
Personal Chair in Human 
Genetics, University of 
Edinburgh
WREN Graham OBE 
Special Advisor to the 
Principal and Major Projects 
Director, University of 
Strathclyde

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts
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Corporate Governance and Management

Council 
President 
Professor Dame Anne Glover DBE  
(until 31.03.21)

Professor Dame Jocelyn Bell Burnell  
(appointed 14.05.21)

Vice-Presidents 
Professor David Bell CBE  
(until 09.01.21)

Professor Stephen Reicher  
(appointed 01.04.21)

Professor Andrew Porter 
Professor Marcel Jaspars 
Professor Mandy MacLean MBE  
(until 31.03.21) 

Professor Vicki Stone  
(appointed 14.05.21) 

Professor Russell Morris
General Secretary  
Dr Alison Elliot CBE  
(until 31.03.21)

Professor Michael Keating  
(appointed 01.04.21) 

Treasurer  
Dr John Brown CBE  
(until 31.03.21)

Dr Chris Masters  
(appointed 14.05.21) 

Fellowship Secretary 
Mr James Boyle  
(until 25.11.20)

Professor Russell Morris  
(from 01.01.21 to 31.03.21)

Professor Zoe Shipton  
(appointed 01.04.21) 

Councillors 
Professor Julian Jones OBE 
Professor Jill Belch OBE  
(until 31.03.21) 

Professor Sir Mark Jones  
(until 31.03.21)

Professor Rebecca Lunn MBE  
(until 31.03.21)

Professor Petra Wend  
(until 31.03.21)

Professor Stuart Monro  
(appointed 01.04.21)

Professor Anne Anderson  
(appointed 01.04.21)

Mr Bruce Minto  
(appointed 01.04.21)

Professor Roger Crofts  
(appointed 01.04.21)

The Royal Society of Edinburgh is an educational charity, 
registered in Scotland as Scottish Charity No. SC000470.  
The Trustees are elected Council members. Details are  
provided below:
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Corporate Governance and Management (continued)

Other Officer Bearers 
Curator 
Professor Christopher Hall  
(until 31.03.21)

Professor Kathryn Rudy  
(from 01.04.21)

Research Awards Convener
Professor Charles Withers 
Programme Convener
Professor Mary Bownes OBE  
(until 31.03.21)

Professor Martin Hendry  
(from 01.04.21)

Young People’s Programme Convener
Professor Stuart Monro OBE  
(until 31.03.21)

Professor Jeremy Smith  
(from 01.04.21)

Chair of RSE Scotland Foundation
Professor Gordon Masterton OBE 
Education Committee Convener
Dr Keir Bloomer  
(until 31.03.21)

Dr Janet Brown  
(from 01.04.21)

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee Convener 
Sir Sandy Crombie 
Members 
Professor Marcel Jaspars (VP) 
Professor Andrew Porter (VP) 
Professor David Bell OBE (VP) 
Dr John Brown CBE 
Professor Mandy MacLean MBE (VP) 
Professor Russell Morris (VP)
Professor Anne Anderson  
(appointed 01.04.21)

Senior Staff
Chief Executive 
Dr Rebekah Widdowfield 
Director of Programmes 
Professor Sarah Skerratt 
Director of Finance & Corporate Services
Mr Gordon Laidlaw  
(until 31 March 2021)

Ms Morag MacDonald  
(from 11 January 2021) 
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Financial Review

Result for the year   

The Group statement of financial activities 
records the net movement in funds for the 
2020-21 year (hereafter 2021) as a £1.9m 
increase, compared to a £3.24m reduction in 
2019-2020 (hereafter 2020). This principally 
arose due to the increase in the value of the 
investment portfolios at the end of the year 
as financial markets began to recover from 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
    

Income and Expenditure
Income     

Total income was £5m, down £0.7m on prior 
year. Prior year benefited from a donation 
from the Lessells Trust of £0.15m and 
better investment income returns (£0.2m 
higher in 2020). Prior year also generated 
income from conference facility lettings of 
£0.2m, while in 2020-21 this income was nil 
with our conference facilities closed for the 
entire financial year due to the pandemic.

Expenditure    

Total expenditure was at similar levels 
to prior year at £5.6m (2020: £5.9m). 

Costs of raising funds were £0.6m in 
both years with savings in building 
management costs offset by an increase 
in investment management fees. Savings 
in building costs arose on heating, lighting 
and cleaning the building while the 
office and conference facilities remained 
closed throughout the year. 

Charitable expenditure varies year on year 
depending on the activities undertaken but 
the main variance contributing to lower 
spend in the year was in international activity 
with travel curtailed by the pandemic. 

Investment Asset gains included in net 
income reflect the early signs of recovery in 
the performance of the UK equity markets 
at the end of the year, with realised gains 
on investments of £0.4m and unrealised 
gains of £4.1m  (2020 - £0.04m realised 
gain and £3.5m unrealised losses).

Other public bodies 13.0%

Investment income

Fellows and YAS 5.1%

Scottish Government  

Legacies and donations 0.3%

Other operating activities 2.7%

Rental income 3.9%

59.5%

15.5%

Income by Source 

Events & Conference Hire 

Enterprise & Innovation 

Research & Prizes 

Costs of raising funds 

RSE Young Academy of Scotland 2.7%

7.2%

International 2.6%

Policy 8.5%

36.6%

21.1%

Public Engagement 12.2%

9.2%

Expenditure
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Financial Review (continued)

We also reported unrealised losses 
on our investment property of £0.66m 
(2020: £0.26m loss) reflecting future 
uncertainties on rental income levels.

An actuarial loss of £1.3m (2020: £0.7m 
gain) was recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Activities. While investment 
returns were better than expected resulting 
in pension asset gains, a change in actuarial 
financial assumptions resulted in significant 
losses overall.   

Balance sheet   

Consolidated net assets have increased 
by £1.9m principally due to the increase in 
market value of investments at year end, 
offset by a negative movement on the 
defined benefit pension schemes liability. 

Tangible fixed assets, including the 
property in George Street, amounted to 
£5.1m, the decrease on the prior year 
being due to the £0.66m reduction in 
valuation of investment properties. 

At year end investments were valued at 
£25.8m, benefiting from the aforementioned 
recovery in UK equity markets. 

Net current assets have reduced by 
£0.6m in line with the deficit position for 
the year.    

The Group’s Balance Sheet contains 
unrestricted reserves of £15m. Going forward 
Covid19 will continue to adversely impact 
the RSE’s financial position however with this 
level of unrestricted reserves there is flexibility 
to offset pandemic-related reductions in 
income and support the preparation of these 
accounts on a going concern basis. 

The calculated FRS102 pension liability of 
£0.8m at 31 March 2020 increased by £1.4m 
to £2.2m. The FRS102 accounts valuations, 
which reflect market conditions at a point 
in time, can fluctuate significantly and 
changes in liabilities may be reversed. 

The FRS102 liabilities are accounting 
estimates and actual liabilities would only 
be realised if the RSE left either of its two 
defined benefit schemes – Lothian Pension 
Fund (LPF) and Universities Superannuation 
Scheme (USS). The basis of calculation 
differs from the potential cash cost that 
would arise if the liabilities were crystallised. 
It is possible that the USS liability may 
crystallise in the foreseeable future, as 
the active membership of the scheme 
has reduced. The Trustees have obtained 
estimates of the potential exit liabilities 
and continue to monitor the position.
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Structure, Governance and Management 

The RSE Council 
he RSE Council, chaired by the President, 
comprises 14 Trustees, including five 
Vice-Presidents, the General Secretary, the 
Treasurer, the Fellowship Secretary and five 
Ordinary Members. Subject to nomination 
and annual re-election by the Fellowship, 
Council members serve for three years; 
except for the General Secretary and 
Treasurer, who may serve for up to four 
years. All positions are unpaid. The Council 
is responsible for the strategic direction and 
policies of the RSE, and normally meets 
quarterly. In addition to the 14 members 
of Council, there are five elected Office 
Bearers who are not Trustees of the RSE: 
the Education Convener, the Programme 
Convener, the Research Awards Convener, 
the Young People’s Programme Convener 
and the Curator. With the exception of the 
Curator, these Office bearers are conveners 
of operational committees. Any or all of the 
Office Bearers are able to attend meetings 
of Council when there is business at Council 
relevant to their responsibilities. The Council 
members and the Office Bearers are all 
elected annually by the Fellowship in a 
postal or electronic ballot. New members 
of Council and the Office Bearers are given 
an extensive induction through briefing 
notes and discussions with the Chief 
Executive and senior staff and training 
is provided to members as required.

Governance Review 
The RSE commenced a governance 
review in late 2018 which reported in June 
2019. Amongst the recommendations 
were that a new Finance and Resources 
Committee be established covering RSE 
finances, investment, HR policies and 
staff remuneration. The first meeting of 
this Committee took place on 12 July 
2021. The Review also recommended 
establishing a Nominations Committee 
covering recruitment of trustees, policies 
and processes for recruitment of committee 
members and supporting committee 
effectiveness. The Nominations Committee 
met for the first time on 1 March 2021. 

The Review also recommended closing or 
mothballing the Foundation (see below) 
and establishing a trading subsidiary to deal 
with all trading activity, income generation 
and estate management. Further work on 
governance has been put on hold pending the 
election of a new President in October 2021. 

Operational Committees 
The operational committees include the 
Education Committee, the International 
Committee, the Economy and Enterprise 
Committee and various Research and 
Enterprise Awards Committees. The 
Meetings Committee and the Young People’s 
Committee have been meeting jointly as 
the Public Engagement Group. These 
Committees largely, but not exclusively, 
comprise Fellows of the RSE and support 
the operational delivery of the RSE’s 
varied activities. All Fellows are actively 
encouraged to participate in the RSE’s 
activities. One other charity founded by 
the RSE, the RSE Scotland Foundation 
(a charitable trust and Scottish Charity 
SC024636) (the Foundation), is included 
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Foundation supports the RSE’s public 
outreach activities and manages the 
premises in Edinburgh. Five of the Trustees 
of the Foundation are appointed ex-officio 
of positions held on RSE Council and a 
minimum of four nominated Trustees are 
appointed for a three-year term by the RSE 
Council. Following a transfer of assets in 
2009, the Foundation is also responsible 
for managing the programme of activities 
in support of research in Scotland, funded 
by the Caledonian Research Fund. 

Related Parties 
Material transactions with related parties 
are disclosed in the notes to these financial 
statements. The RSE’s policy is for Trustees, 
staff and advisers to declare their interest 
and exempt themselves from all relevant 
discussions and decisions which may 
involve a transaction with a related party, or 
in which they may have a conflict of interest. 
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Structure, Governance and Management (continued)

Description of risk Action to manage

Loss of funding 

Engage with stakeholders on funding 
continuity. 
Continue to develop the RSE’s fundraising 
capability and capacity.  
Continue to monitor developments that 
change risk factors for funding and 
operations. 

Risk that pensions costs and liabilities will 
become unaffordable 

Continue to monitor pensions liabilities 
annually.  

Risk of Cyber attack or breach of IT 
security 

Continuing to update defences. 
All staff using IT equipment involved in 
ongoing cybersecurity training. 

Business Continuity Business Continuity Plan tested in 19/20 
for ongoing review.  

Risk Management 
The Audit and Risk Committee, operating 
on a joint basis with the Foundation, reports 
directly to the Council and the Trustees 
of the Foundation. The Audit and Risk 
Committee’s Chair is invited to attend Council 
meetings as an observer. Its remit includes 
keeping under review the effectiveness 
of internal control and risk management 
systems of the RSE and the Foundation. The 
Council believes that the existing systems 
and the structure of decision making and 
reporting through the senior team to Council 
continue to provide assurance that risks 
are assessed and carefully managed.

Going Concern 
The Trustees have considered the Group’s 
reserves and secured and expected income, 
and assessed the possible financial impact 
effect of Covid-19 on the RSE. The Group has 
significant unrestricted reserves (see note 
20), access to cash deposits and relatively 
liquid investment portfolios, which give 
flexibility to the Group to absorb the impact 
of possible reductions in income over the 
next 12 months. The Trustees consider 
that it is appropriate to prepare the financial 
statements on a going-concern basis.

Policies 
Investment powers and policy 

The investment management arrangements 
were reviewed in April 2016 and since 1 July 
2016, the management of the investment 
funds of the RSE and the Foundation has 
been carried out by Rathbones and Brooks 
MacDonald Management. Each manages 
half of the portfolio on a discretionary basis. 
The objectives set by the Council are to 
ensure a sufficient level of income to meet 
the target set annually by the Council, and 
to invest for real capital growth over the 
long term. The Council has delegated the 
detailed monitoring of performance to an 
Investment Committee, which includes at 
least one ordinary member of Council and 
two experienced investment professionals, 
and which makes comparisons against a 
composite benchmark reflecting the mix 
of assets held. The performance of the 
portfolios in the year was as follows:

Income  
target
£’000

Actual 
income 
£’000

RSE 365 452

Foundation 239 292
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Structure, Governance and Management (continued)

The income return was satisfactory and the 
comparison with benchmark was positive for 
both managers. The Investment Committee 
meets twice annually with the investment 
managers to discuss their compliance 
with the constraints set by the Committee 
and the risk environment. In the year under 
review, no compliance issues arose which 
required to be reported to the Committee.

Operating Policies – Grant Making 

The RSE makes grants to individuals in 
higher education institutions in support 
of research activities in the categories of 
Personal Research Fellowships, Sabbatical 
Research Grants, Arts & Humanities Grants, 
Postgraduate Travel Scholarship, PhD 
Studentships, Undergraduate Vacation 
Scholarships, Enterprise Fellowships and 
International Exchange Grants. Each of 
these categories is specifically funded 
from various sources, including the RSE’s 
restricted funds. The basis of eligibility and 
selection varies according to the detailed 
scheme regulations, which are published 
on the RSE’s website (www.rse.org.uk). 
Grants are also made in support of research 
activities of Fellows of the RSE, including 
support for travel connected with research or 
scholarship, small-scale specialist meetings, 
research collaboration and publication 
of books written by Fellows. The Grants 
Committee is responsible for making these 
awards to Fellows and members of the 
Young Academy in accordance with the 
scheme’s regulations agreed by Council.

Reserves Policy and Funds 

The total funds at 31 March 2021 are  
as follows:

The RSE holds a number of restricted 
funds resulting from bequests for particular 
purposes, details of which are set out 
in Note 2 to the financial statements.

The Council has allocated designated funds, 
within its unrestricted funds, the purposes of 
which are also set out in Note 2 to the financial 
statements. The Capital Asset Reserve 
represents the buildings held as tangible fixed 
assets. Other amounts designated for future 
spending comprise the Building Fund for 
non-routine maintenance and development 
of the George Street buildings expected to 
be spent over the next 10 to 20 years; the 
BP Fund for research and innovation; the 
Pension Reserve Fund against future defined 
benefit pension liabilities expected to be 
spent in 2 years; and the Development Fund 
to support the delivery of the RSE Strategic 
Framework over the next five years. 

The General Fund represents the 
balance of unrestricted funds. 

The Council considers that it would 
be desirable to have a General Fund 
reserve in the range of at least three 
months’ expenditure on support costs, or 
approximately £0.6m. This is being met.

£’000

Total funds 30,525
Less: Restricted 15,481
Less: Designated
Capital Asset reserve 2,787
Building Fund 2,828
Revaluation Reserve 2,158
Pension Reserve Fund 1,386
BP Research Fund 3,783
Young Academy Fund 33
Development Fund 2,928
Net available funds (859)
comprising:  
General Fund Balance 
FRS102 pension fund

1,345 
(2,204)
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Structure, Governance and Management (continued)

Pay Policy 

The Trustees and the senior management 
team, comprising the Chief Executive, 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services, 
and Director of Programmes are the key 
management personnel. No Trustees receive 
remuneration; details of the reimbursement 
of Trustees expenses are in Note 23 to 
the financial statements. All staff are joint 
employees of the RSE, and the Foundation.

 

Their terms and conditions of employment 
are set by a Staffing Committee, chaired 
by the General Secretary, and including 
the Treasurer and a Vice-President and 
an external adviser. The pay of all staff 
is reviewed annually by the RSE Staffing 
Committee, taking account of inflation and 
the level of awards in other relevant sectors 
and benchmarked on a biennial basis 
against similar organisations. In 2021-22, 
this responsibility will be undertaken by 
the Finance and Resourcing Committee.
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Statement of Council’s Responsibilities

The Council is responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice). Under charities legislation 
applicable in Scotland, the Council is required 
to prepare accounts for each financial 
year that give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the RSE itself and of its 
subsidiary and of the incoming resources 
and application of resources of the RSE 
itself and of its subsidiary for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, 
The Council is required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies 
and apply them consistently 

• observe the methods and principles 
of the Charities SORP 

• make judgements and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent 

• state whether applicable accounting 
standards have been followed, subject 
to any departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements 

• prepare the financial statements on 
a going-concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
RSE will continue in operation. 

The Council is responsible for keeping 
accounting records that disclose, with 
reasonable accuracy at any time, the 
financial position of the RSE and which 
enable it to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 
2006 (as amended) and the RSE’s own Laws. 

It is also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the RSE and, hence, for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
The Council is also responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the charity 
and financial information included on the 
RSE’s website. Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approval of the Report 

At the time of approving this report: 

• so far as each Trustee is aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of 
which the Auditors are unaware 

• each Trustee has taken all the steps 
that they ought to have taken as a 
Trustee to make themselves aware 
of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the Auditors 
are aware of that information

Signed on behalf of the Council 

Dr C Masters  
Treasurer 

13th September 2021
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Independents Auditor’s Report 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council 
of the Royal Society of Edinburgh

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial 
statements of The Royal Society of 
Edinburgh (the ‘charitable group’) for the year 
ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the 
Group Statement of Financial Activities, RSE 
Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance 
Sheets, the Group Cash Flow Statement and 
notes to the financial statements, including 
significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state 
of the charitable group’s affairs as at 
31 March 2021 and of its incoming 
resources and application of resources, 
for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Charities 
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 
2005 and regulation 8 of the Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 
(as amended).

Basis for opinion

We have been appointed as auditor under 
section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and report in 
accordance with regulations made under  
that Act. 

We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the charitable group in 

accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the trustees’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we 
have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant 
doubt on the charitable group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of 
the trustees with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report. 

Other information

The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report 
other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The trustees are 
responsible for the other information contained 
within the annual report. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the course of the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether this gives rise 
to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.



62         RSE Annual Report 2020–2021

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts
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Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 
require us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• the information given in the financial 
statements is inconsistent in any 
material respect with the trustees’  
annual report; or

• proper accounting records have not  
been kept; or

• the financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records; or

• we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees 

As explained more fully in the statement of 
trustees’ responsibilities set out on page 
60 the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view, and for such internal control as the 
trustees determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the  
trustees are responsible for assessing the 
charitable group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the trustees either intend to liquidate the 
charitable group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

The extent to which the audit was 
considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities are instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations.  The objectives of 
our audit are to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence regarding compliance with 
laws and regulations that have a direct effect 
on the determination of material amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements, 
to perform audit procedures to help identify 
instances of non-compliance with other laws 
and regulations that may have a material 
effect on the financial statements, and 
to respond appropriately to identified or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and 
regulations identified during the audit.  

In relation to fraud, the objectives of our audit 
are to identify and assess the risk of material 
misstatement of the financial statements 
due to fraud, to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence regarding the assessed risks of 
material misstatement due to fraud through 
designing and implementing appropriate 
responses and to respond appropriately to fraud 
or suspected fraud identified during the audit.  

However, it is the primary responsibility of 
management, with the oversight of those 
charged with governance, to ensure that 
the entity’s operations are conducted in 
accordance with the provisions of laws 
and regulations and for the prevention and 
detection of fraud.

In identifying and assessing risks of material 
misstatement in respect of irregularities, 
including fraud, the audit engagement team: 

• obtained an understanding of the nature 
of the sector, including the legal and 
regulatory framework, that the charitable 
group operates in and how the charitable 
group is complying with the legal and 
regulatory framework;
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• inquired of management, and those 
charged with governance, about their 
own identification and assessment of 
the risks of irregularities, including any 
known actual, suspected or alleged 
instances of fraud;

• discussed matters about non-compliance 
with laws and regulations and how fraud 
might occur including assessment of 
how and where the financial statements 
may be susceptible to fraud.

As a result of these procedures we consider 
the most significant laws and regulations 
that have a direct impact on the financial 
statements are FRS102, Charities SORP 
(FRS 102), Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 
2006 (as amended). We performed audit 
procedures to detect non-compliances which 
may have a material impact on the financial 
statements which included reviewing the 
financial statements including the Trustees’ 
Report and remaining alert to new or unusual 
transactions which may not be in accordance 
with the governing documents.

The most significant laws and regulations 
that have an indirect impact on the financial 
statements are those in relation to the Data 
Protection Act 2018. We performed audit 
procedures to inquire of management 
whether the charitable group is in compliance 
with these law and regulations, inspected 
correspondence with regulatory authorities 
and reviewed external compliance reports.

The audit engagement team identified the 
risk of management override of controls and 
income recognition as the areas where the 
financial statements were most susceptible 
to material misstatement due to fraud.  Audit 
procedures performed included but were not 
limited to testing manual journal entries and 
other adjustments, evaluating the business 
rationale in relation to significant, unusual 
transactions and transactions entered into 
outside the normal course of business, 
challenging judgments and estimates, and 
reviewing grant and funding agreements 
to confirm whether items were correctly 
recognised or deferred in the year.

A further description of our responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements 
is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at http://www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the charitable 
group’s trustees, as a body, in accordance 
with section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, 
and regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).  
Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the charitable group’s 
trustees those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the charitable group and its trustees as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

RSM UK Audit LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
First Floor, Quay 2, 
139 Fountainbridge, 
Edinburgh, 
EH3 9QG

Date _______________

RSM UK Audit LLP is eligible to act as an 
auditor in terms of section 1212 of the 
Companies Act 2006

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Group Statement of Financial Activities

Note Unrestricted 
£

Restricted  
£

2021 Total  
£

2020 Total  
£

Income
Legacies - 15,379 15,379 6,309 
Other Donations 252,197 - 252,197 438,129 
Donations & Legacies 4 252,197 15,379 267,576 444,438 
Charitable activities 5 133,719 3,606,012 3,739,732 4,037,517 
Rental income 6 - 190,987 190,987 244,843 
Investment income 6 363,343 402,301 765,644 958,020 
Total income 749,259 4,214,679 4,963,939 5,684,818 

Expenditure
Raising funds 7 (377,947) (236,742) (614,688) (634,642)
Charitable activities 7 (717,498) (4,274,549) (4,992,047) (5,282,516)
Total expenditure (1,095,445) (4,511,290) (5,606,735) (5,917,158)
Net operating deficit (346,186) (296,611) (642,797) (232,340)

Gains / (losses) on 
Investment Assets
Realised gains 14 196,260 244,456 440,716 40,007 
Unrealised gains/(losses) on 
Investments 14 1,894,515 2,205,800 4,100,315 (3,487,799)
Unrealised losses on 
Investment Property 13(a) (660,000) - (660,000) (265,000)
Net income / (expenditure) 1,084,589 2,153,645 3,238,234 (3,945,132)
Transfers between funds 19,20 - - - -

Other recognised gains / 
(losses)
Actuarial (losses)/gains on
defined benefit pension funds 22 (1,338,000) - (1,338,000) 705,000 
Net movement in funds (253,411) 2,153,645 1,900,234 (3,240,132)

Reconciliation of funds:
Balance brought forward at
1 April 2020 19,20 15,297,336 13,327,423 28,624,759 31,864,891 
Balance carried forward at
31 March 2021 19,20 15,043,925 15,481,068 30,524,993 28,624,759 

There were no acquired or discontinued activities in the year. The notes on pages 68 to 97 form 
part of the these financial statements.

(INCORPORATING THE INCOME & EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Balance Sheets at 31 March 2021

The accounts were approved and authorised for issue by the Council on 13 September 2021  
and signed on its behalf by:

Dr C Masters 
Treasurer

Note 
GROUP  

2021 
£ 

             GROUP 
2020 

£

               RSE 
2021 

£

              RSE 
2020 

£

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 13(a) 5,058,785 5,764,147 3,725,287 4,416,851 
Heritage assets 13(b) 46,920 46,920 46,920 46,920 
Intangible fixed assets 13(c) 356,064 182,548 356,064 182,548 
Investment at fair value 14 25,807,447 21,340,551 15,698,342 12,983,123 
Loans receivable 15 - - 1,189,016 1,235,824 
Total fixed assets 31,269,216 27,334,166 21,015,629 18,865,266 

Current assets
Debtors 16 442,563 295,972 449,774 268,647 
Cash at bank and in hand 2,441,419 368,706 2,356,218 259,725 
Deposits 1,950,000 3,585,882 1,950,000 3,585,882 
Total current assets 4,833,982 4,250,560 4,755,992 4,114,254 

Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year  17 (3,374,205) (2,145,967) (4,590,397) (3,628,265)
Net current assets 1,459,777 2,104,593 165,595 485,989 
Net assets excluding 
pension fund 32,728,993 29,438,759 21,181,224 19,351,255 
Defined benefit pension
schemes liability 22 (2,204,000) (814,000) (2,204,000) (814,000)
Net assets after pension 
fund liability 30,524,993 28,624,759 18,977,224 18,537,255 

Funds
Restricted Funds 20 15,481,068 13,327,423 3,933,299 3,239,919 
Unrestricted Funds
   Designated Funds 19 15,902,729 14,670,068 15,902,729 14,670,068 
   FRS102 Pension reserve 19 (2,204,000) - (2,204,000) -
   General Fund 18 1,345,196 627,268 1,345,196 627,268 

15,043,925 15,297,336 15,043,925 15,297,336 
Total funds 30,524,993 28,624,759 18,977,224 18,537,255 
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RSE Statement of Financial Activities

Note Unrestricted 
£

Restricted  
£

2021 Total  
£

2020 Total  
£

Income
Donations & Legacies 4 252,197 15,379 267,576 435,201 
Charitable activities 5 133,719 3,864,376 3,998,095 3,876,791 
Investment income 412,776 109,816 522,592 636,989 
Transfer from RSE Scotland 
SCIO on dissolution - - - 32,972 
Total income 798,692 3,989,571 4,788,263 4,981,952 

Expenditure
Raising funds 7 (377,947) - (377,947) (448,171)
Charitable activities 7 (766,931) (3,966,201) (4,733,132) (4,899,512)
Total expenditure (1,144,878) (3,966,201) (5,111,079) (5,347,683)
Net operating (deficit)/
surplus (346,186) 23,370 (322,816) (365,731)

Gains / (losses) on 
Investment Assets
Realised gains 14 196,260 62,925 259,185 31,204 
Unrealised gains/(losses)  
on Investments 14 1,894,515 607,085 2,501,600 (2,141,249)
Unrealised losses on 
investment property 13(a) (660,000) - (660,000) (265,000)
Net income / (expenditure) 1,084,589 693,380 1,777,969 (2,740,775)
Transfers between funds 19,20 - - - -

Other recognised gains / 
(losses)
Actuarial (losses)/gains on
defined benefit pension funds 22 (1,338,000) - (1,338,000) 705,000 
Net movement in funds (253,411) 693,380 439,969 (2,035,775)

Reconciliation of funds:
Balance brought forward at
1 April 2020 15,297,336 3,239,919 18,537,255 20,573,030 
Balance carried forward at
31 March 2021 15,043,925 3,933,299 18,977,224 18,537,255 

There were no acquired or discontinued activities in the year. The notes on pages 68 to 97 form part 
of the these financial statements.

(INCORPORATING THE INCOME & EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Group Cashflow Statement

Note 2021  
£

2020  
£

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (109,194) (527,537)
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 20,831 21,497 
Dividends received 744,813 936,522 
Purchase of property, plant & equipment (309,133) (191,901)
Proceeds from sale of investments 3,971,720 6,314,077 
Purchases of investments (3,897,585) (6,432,559)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 530,646 647,637 

Cash flows from financing activities
Legacies 15,379 -
Change in cash in the year 436,831 120,099 

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in funds
Cash at beginning of year 3,954,588 3,834,489 
(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year 436,831 120,099 
Cash at end of year 27 4,391,419 3,954,588 

Net income/(expenditure) for the year 
(as per the statement of financial activities)
Net income before transfers 3,238,234 (3,945,132)
Losses/(gains) on investments (4,541,031) 3,447,794 
Losses/(gains) on investment property 660,000 265,000 
Retirement benefit scheme current service cost 261,000 329,000 
Retirement benefit scheme contributions (226,000) (237,000)
Retirement benefit scheme finance cost 212,000 31,000 
Retirement benefit past service cost (195,000) 160,000 
Legacies (15,379) -
Dividends receivable (744,813) (936,521)
Interest receivable (20,831) (21,497)
Depreciation 126,037 132,734 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 54,942 8,450 
Decrease/(increase) in debtors (146,591) (126,988)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors 1,228,238 365,625 
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (109,194) (527,537)

Reconciliation of net debt
Cash at bank and in hand 4,391,419 3,954,588 
Debt: due falling in one year - -
Debt: due falling after one year - -
Net Debt 4,391,419 3,954,588 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

67         RSE Annual Report 2020–2021



68         RSE Annual Report 2020–2021

EngageRSE Overview Inspire Provide Expertise Promote RSE Approach RSE into the Future Accounts

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting Basis
The RSE is a public benefit entity, registered 
as a Scottish Charity (SC 000470). The 
financial statements have been prepared in 
£ sterling, in accordance with Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice (Charities SORP 
(FRS102)) applicable to charities preparing 
their accounts in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and the Republic of Ireland (SORP), 
with FRS102, and with the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 
and the Charity Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended).  

The financial statements comprise three 
primary financial statements: the statement 
of financial activities, which incorporates 
the income and expenditure account, 
the balance sheet, and the statement 
of cash flows. The financial statements 
have been prepared under the historical 
cost accounting rules as modified to 
include the revaluation of investments.

Going Concern

On the basis of the RSE’s reserves and cash 
position and the secured and expected 
income for the next twelve months the 
Council considers that it is appropriate 
to prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis. The Council has also 
considered the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic on the financial position and 
future performance of the RSE. The 2021-
22 budget was revised to take account of 
impacts on income streams, and the Council 
has considered the impact  on cash flows 
up to and including 30 September 2022 
and was satisfied that the financial impacts 
could be absorbed by available reserves.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are 
prepared using acquisition accounting and 
include the financial statements of the RSE 
and of the RSE Scotland Foundation which 
is under its control. As the objectives of this 
entity are narrower than those of the RSE, 
they have been treated as restricted funds. 

Critical accounting estimates 
and areas of judgement

Estimates, assumptions and judgement 
are necessarily part of the preparation 
of the financial statements. The most 
significant estimates and assumptions 
contained in these accounts are 
management’s estimate of the defined 
benefit obligation, which is based on a 
number of critical underlying assumptions 
such as standard rates of inflation, 
mortality, discount rate and anticipation of 
future salary increases. Variation in these 
assumptions may significantly impact 
the liability and the annual defined benefit 
expenses (as analysed in Note 22).

2. Funds
The RSE’s funds are classified in accordance 
with the definitions in the SORP, into 
Restricted Funds, where there are restrictions 
placed by a donor as to the use of income or 
capital; Designated Funds, where the Council 
has set aside sums within its unrestricted 
funds for a particular purpose; and the 
remaining General (unrestricted) Fund.

The classifications made are as follows:

General Fund

A discretionary fund available to the Council 
to meet the ordinary activities of the Society.

Designated and unrestricted funds

Capital Asset Reserve Fund – representing 
the book cost of the buildings at 22–24 
George Street and 26 George Street, 
together with the 1997 building project 
loan to the RSE Scotland Foundation. 

Building Fund – a fund to provide support for 
non-routine maintenance and development 
of the buildings in George Street.

BP Fund – a fund to support research 
and innovation in Scotland, arising 
from the transfer of assets from the 
BP Research Fellowship Trust. 

Pension Reserve – to provide for a liability 
that may arise on eventual exit from 
the defined benefit pension schemes, 
USS and Lothian Pension Fund. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Development Fund – to provide 
development finance to implement 
the RSE Strategic Framework.

Restricted funds – income funds received 
from donors for a stated purpose for 
expenditure on specifically identified projects.

Robert Cormack Bequest – to 
promote astronomical knowledge 
and research in Scotland. 

Lessells Trust – to fund scholarships 
abroad for engineers.

Auber Bequest – to fund research in 
Scotland and England by naturalised 
British citizens over 60 years of age.

Prizes Fund – to fund various prizes.

Fleck Bequest Fund – to promote interest, 
knowledge and appreciation of science 
and its applications throughout Scotland.

Piazzi Smyth Legacy Fund – to fund 
high altitude astronomical research.

Sillitto Fund – to promote interest in 
physics among young people.

CASS Fund – to fund academic/ 
industrial liaison.

Retailing Seminar Fund – to fund a 
programme of seminars on retailing.

Edinburgh Drug Absorption Foundation 
Fund – to fund a series of conferences 
on the broad theme of Drugs Futures.

James Clerk Maxwell Fund – 
balance of the funds received to 
facilitate the commissioning and 
maintenance of the statue of James 
Clerk Maxwell in George Street.

Patrick Meares Fund – a legacy received 
to fund Fellows’ grants: to be applied one 
third in support of visiting lecturers and 
two thirds in support for meetings.

Lillian and Herbert Smith Fund – a 
bequest from R H Smith to be used 
to support biomedical research.

RSE Scotland Foundation – a trust to 
advance the education of the public in 
Scotland in science, engineering and 
technology, incorporating assets transferred 
from the Caledonian Research Fund (CRF).

3. Accounting Policies
Income

Donations and legacies

Subscription income for the subscription 
year to October is recognised proportionally 
to the period to which it relates. Amounts 
relating to the period from 1 April to 31 
October are shown as deferred income.

Revenue or capital grants from Government 
and other sources are recognised when 
the RSE becomes entitled to the funds, the 
amount can be measured reliably, and it is 
probable that the income will be received.

Donations of a recurring nature from other 
charitable foundations and one-off gifts 
included in other income are taken to revenue 
when the RSE is entitled to the funds. 

Legacy income is recognised when 
the Charity has legal entitlement to the 
income, there is sufficient evidence to 
provide necessary probability that it 
will be received, and the value can be 
measured with sufficient reliability.

Investment income

Interest and dividends are accounted for 
in the year in which they are received.

Income for charitable activities

Income for activities is accounted for in line 
with the requirements of the Charities SORP 
when the Charity has control over the rights 
to the economic benefit of the income, it is 
considered probable that the income will be 
received by the Charity and the monetary 
value of the income can be reliably measured.

Income for research fellowships is 
accounted for in the period in which the 
RSE becomes entitled to the resources.

Income received for specific projects and 
received in advance of the commencement 
of the project, is deferred. If the project 
were not to proceed as planned, the RSE 
would not be entitled to retain the funds. For 
performance-related grants, where terms 
or conditions have not been, or may not be, 
met, the income is deferred and included 
in the balance sheet as deferred income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Expenditure

Expenditure and support costs

All expenditure is included on an 
accruals basis, having regard to any 
constructive obligations created by 
multi-year grant commitments.

Directly attributable expenditure is allocated 
to the relevant activity. Overhead and support 
costs are allocated to activities on the basis 
of direct staff costs in each area of activity.

Governance costs incurred in connection 
with the management of RSE assets, 
organisational administration and 
compliance with constitutional and 
statutory requirements are included in 
support costs and allocated to activities.

Cost of raising funds

The cost of raising funds includes 
expenditure incurred in supporting the 
Fellowship and incurred on fundraising 
and development initiatives, together with 
fees paid to investment managers.

Grants payable

Grants payable are recognised as a 
liability when the RSE is under an actual 
or constructive obligation to make a 
transfer to a third party. Where grants are 
time-related to future periods and are to 
be financed by specific grants receivable 
in those future periods, they are treated 
as liabilities of those periods and not as 
liabilities at balance sheet date. Such grants 
are disclosed as future commitments.

Operating leases

Rental costs under operating 
leases are charged on a straight-
line basis over the lease period.

Tangible Fixed Assets, depreciation  
and repairs

The RSE’s principal assets are its buildings 
in George Street, Edinburgh. The cost of 
the buildings is depreciated on a straight-
line basis assuming a 50-year life. It is 
the policy of the RSE Council to maintain 
the buildings to a high standard. 

Any permanent diminutions in value are 
reflected in the statement of financial 
activities. Costs of repairs and maintenance 
are charged against revenue.

Expenditure incurred by the RSE Scotland 
Foundation in the improvements to 26 
George Street is held at cost and is being 
depreciated on a straight-line basis from 
the date of completion of the refurbishment 
over the period of the lease to the RSE 
Scotland Foundation to 30 June 2047.

Minor equipment up to £500 is 
charged against revenue in the year 
of purchase. Computer and audio-
visual equipment is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over 3–7 years.

Investment property

The RSE has ownership of buildings, for 
which part of the property is rented out to 
third parties. In accordance with FRS 102, 
the rented element of the property has 
been valued by Ryden LLP on a market 
value basis and, as such, the rented 
element of the owned property has been 
recognised as an investment property.

Heritage Assets

The historical records of the RSE 
from its formation in 1783, including 
papers and minute books, are placed 
on deposit with the National Library of 
Scotland, where they are catalogued and 
accessible to the public on request.

Portraits, furniture, publications and other 
artefacts held in the George Street premises 
have been acquired in the ordinary course 
of business over the years prior to 2009 
and have not been capitalised. These items 
may have intrinsic historical value, but they 
are not held principally for their contribution 
to knowledge and culture nor directly in 
furtherance of the charitable objectives of 
RSE. Reliable estimates of cost or value 
are not available on a basis that would 
justify the costs of establishing them. 
The category of heritage assets shown in 
fixed assets comprises portraits acquired 
since that time at cost, and donated assets 
at valuations carried out on acquisition. 
These assets are not depreciated.
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Intangible Assets

This relates to the payments for the software 
development of a Customer Relations 
Management package. This asset is being 
amortised over its useful economic life, 
currently expected to be at least seven years.

Investments

Investments are stated at their fair value at 
the balance sheet date. Gains and losses 
on disposal and revaluation of investments 
are charged or credited in the statement of 
financial activities and allocated to funds 
in accordance with their proportionate 
share of the investment portfolio.

Financial Instruments

The RSE only has financial assets and 
financial liabilities of a kind that qualify 
as basic financial instruments. Basic 
financial instruments are initially recognised 
at transaction value and subsequently 
measured at their settlement value.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised 
when a contractual right or obligation arises 
and are stated gross, unless there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts, which is intended to be exercised.

Loans receivable due over one year are stated 
at fair value, unless they may be regarded as 
concessionary, when they are valued at cost.

Debtors

Trade and other debtors receivable within 
one year are measured at the transaction 
price receivable unless there is an 
impairment. Provision for impairment 
is made when there is evidence that the 
amounts due will not be collected in 
accordance with the related contract.

Prepayments are valued at the amount 
prepaid. Accrued income is measured 
at the amount recoverable.

Creditors

Trade and other creditors are measured at 
the transaction price payable. Provisions 
are recognised when the RSE has a 
present obligation as a result of a past 
event that will probably result in the 
transfer of economic benefits and that 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are measured at the 
best estimate of the amounts 
required to settle the obligation.

Pensions

The RSE participates in two defined 
benefit pension schemes (the Universities 
Superannuation Scheme and the Lothian 
Pension Fund), which are externally 
funded. The cost of providing pensions as 
calculated in accordance with FRS102 is 
allocated over employees’ working lives 
with the RSE and is included in staff costs.

From 1 April 2017, the membership of 
the Lothian Pension Fund was closed to 
new entrants and a defined contribution 
scheme opened for new staff.

In the event that the RSE withdrew completely 
from either of these schemes, there would be 
significant exit liabilities. The policy adopted 
is to build a reserve in a designated fund, in 
addition to the FRS102 pension adjustments, 
to provide for this risk over a period of time.

Pension fund assets arising from 
valuations under FRS 102 are recognised 
only to the extent that the asset is 
recoverable in the foreseeable future.

Foreign exchange

Assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date, while transactions arising during 
the year are translated at the spot rate 
prevailing when the transaction arises.

Exchange gains or losses arising 
in the year are recognised in the 
statement of financial activities.
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Note 
GROUP 

2021 
£

             GROUP 
2020 

£

               RSE 
2021 

£

              RSE 
2020 

£

Contributions from RSE 
Fellows and YAS
Admission fees - fellows - 16,200 - 16,200 
Annual Subscriptions - 
fellows 237,864 228,178 237,864 228,178 
Fellows' Donations 4,333 4,298 4,333 4,298 
Young Academy Scotland 9,379 - 9,379 -
Income tax recoverable 
under Gift Aid - 6,121 - 6,121 

251,576 254,797 251,576 254,797 

Other Donations
Friends of the RSE - 
corporate partners - 12,000 - 12,000 
Legacies - Unrestricted - 6,309 - 6,309 
Other Income 621 2,138 621 2,138 
Total unrestricted income 252,197 275,244 252,197 275,244 
Legacies - restricted 3,037 - 3,037 -
Lessells Trust 12,342 159,957 12,342 159,957 
Young Academy of Scotland 
– Subscriptions & Donations - 9,237 - -
Total restricted income 15,379 169,194 15,379 159,957 
Total Donations & Legacies 6 267,576 444,438 267,576 435,201 

4. Donations and Legacies

In addition to the donations set out above, the RSE receives donations made specitically in support of 
activities which are included in activities income (See Note 29(b)).
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Note 
GROUP 

2021 
£

            GROUP 
2020 

£

               RSE 
2021 

£

              RSE 
2020 

£

Scottish Government Grant - 
STEM Research awards - 1,127,231 - 1,127,231 
Scottish Government Grant - 
personal research awards 308,549 - 308,549 -
Scottish Government Grant - 
sabbatical awards 205,116 - 205,116 -
Scottish Government Grant 
- Saphire 49,500 - 49,500 -
Scottish Government Grant - 
Activities grant 195,700 - 195,700 -
Scottish Government Grant - 
Arts & Humanities awards 501,256 370,575 501,256 370,575 
Scottish Government Grant - 
joint projects 117,259 - 117,259 -
Scottish Government Grant - 
COP26 collaboration 104,782 - 104,782 -
Scottish Government Grant - 
International awards - 104,294 - 104,294 
Scottish Government Grant 
- COVID-19 impact research 
grant 502,118 - 502,118 -
Scottish Government Grant - 
engagement & expertise 948,200 604,100 948,200 604,100 
Scottish Government Grant - 
international activities - 192,486 - 192,486 
Scottish Government - 
Unlocking Ambition - 335,648 - 335,648 
Total Scottish Government 2,932,480 2,734,334 2,932,480 2,734,334 
Scottish Enterprise - 
Enterprise Fellowships 57,442 463,527 57,442 463,527 
BBSRC Enterprise Fellowships 404,008 359,176 404,008 359,176 
NERC Enterprise Fellowships - 69 - 69 
STFC Enterprise Fellowships 125,788 71,603 125,788 71,603 
IBioIC Enterprise Fellowships 54,654 10,540 54,654 10,540 
Charitable Trusts - 2,415 290,004 65,092 
Public Engagement activities - 8,297 - 8,297 
International income - - - -
Journal publications - 154,908 - -
Conference facilities letting - 193,456 - -
Total restricted income 3,574,372 3,998,325 3,864,376 3,712,638 
Policy and advice income - 14,150 - 14,150 
Public engagement Activities 27,500 21,712 27,500 21,712 
Journal publications 88,086 3,330 86,356 128,291 
Sundry income 49,773 - 19,863 -
Total unrestricted income 165,360 39,192 133,719 164,153 
Total Incoming Resources 
from Charitable Activities 6 3,739,732 4,037,517 3,998,095 3,876,791 

5. Incoming Resources from Charitable Activities

Further information relating to grant, donations and receipts and their application is set out in note 29.
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6. Income by Source

GROUP 
2021

Donation
(Note 4)

£

Promotion
Research &

Activities
£

Other
Charitable
Activities

£

Total
Charitable
Activities 
(Note 5)

£

Rental
Income

£

Investment
Income

£

 
Total

£

Fellows and YAS 251,576 - - - - - 251,576 
Individuals 621 - - - - - 621 
Legacies 3,037 - - - - - 3,037 
Companies - - - - - - -
Charitable Trusts 12,342 - 27,500 27,500 - - 39,842 
Scottish 
Government - 1,014,921 1,917,559 2,932,480 - - 2,932,480 
COVID job 
retention grant - - 49,773 49,773 - - 49,773 
Public Sector 
Bodies - 641,895 - 641,895 - - 641,895 
Journal 
Publications - - 88,083 88,083 - - 88,083 
Conference 
Facilities - - - - - - -
Rental Income - - - - 190,987 - 190,987 
Dividends & 
Interest - - - - - 765,644 765,644 
Year ended  
31 March 2021 267,576 1,656,816 2,082,915 3,739,732 190,987 765,644 4,963,939 

GROUP 
2020

Donation
(Note 4)

£

Promotion
Research &

Activities
£

Other
Charitable
Activities

£

Total
Charitable
Activities 
(Note 5)

£

Rental
Income

£

Investment
Income

£

 
Total

£

Fellows 249,408 - - - - - 249,408 
Young Academy 
Members 9,237 - - - 9,237 
Individuals 7,527 - 5,159 5,159 - - 12,686 
Legacies 6,309 - - - - - 6,309 
Companies 12,000 - - - - - 12,000 
Charitable Trusts 159,957 2,415 38,999 41,414 - - 201,371 
Scottish 
Government - 1,833,454 900,880 2,734,334 - - 2,734,334 
Public Sector 
Bodies - 904,916 - 904,916 - - 904,916 
Journal 
Publications - - 158,238 158,238 - - 158,238 
Conference 
Facilities - - 193,456 193,456 - - 193,456 
Rental Income - - - - 244,843 - 244,843 
Dividends & 
Interest - - - - - 958,020 958,020 
Year ended  
31 March 2020 444,438 2,740,785 1,296,732 4,037,517 244,843 958,020 5,684,818 
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7. Expenditure

  GROUP

Direct 
costs

£

Support 
costs

(Note 11)
£

Total  
2021 

£

Direct 
costs 

£

Support 
costs

(Note 11)
£

Total  
2020 

£

Costs of Generating Funds
Fundraising 25,600 129,656 155,256 15,194 191,630 206,824 
Membership activities 5,485 158,790 164,275 19,136 196,398 215,534 
Building management 12,419 186,781 199,200 54,664 115,087 169,751 
Investment fees 95,957 - 95,957 42,533 - 42,533 
Total costs of generating funds 139,461 475,227 614,688 131,527 503,115 634,642 

Charitable Activities
Research and prizes 1,702,058 340,664 2,042,722 1,604,799 281,626 1,886,425 
Enterprise and innovation 934,260 243,516 1,177,776 1,102,770 333,841 1,436,611 
Policy 11,752 460,049 471,801 33,183 518,825 552,008 
International 5,414 137,111 142,525 51,729 189,313 241,042 
Public Engagement 28,878 650,335 679,213 70,118 690,918 761,036 
Conferencing Letting - 328,508 328,508 42,456 203,694 246,150 
Development - - - 631 15,529 16,160 
Publications - - - 37,983 - 37,983 
Young Academy of Scotland 2,976 146,526 149,502 12,649 92,452 105,101 
Total cost of charitable 
activities 2,685,338 2,306,709 4,992,047 2,956,318 2,326,198 5,282,516 
Total Expenditure - Group 2,824,799 2,781,936 5,606,735 3,087,845 2,829,313 5,917,158 

  RSE 

Direct 
costs

£

Support 
costs

(Note 11)
£

Total  
2021 

£

Direct 
costs 

£

Support 
costs

(Note 11)
£

Total  
2020 

£

Costs of Generating Funds
Fundraising 25,600 129,656 155,256 15,194 191,630 206,824 
Membership activities 5,485 158,790 164,275 19,135 196,398 215,534 
Building management - - - - - -
Investment fees 58,416 - 58,416 25,813 - 25,813 
Total costs of generating funds 89,501 288,446 377,947 60,143 388,028 448,171 

Charitable Activities
Research and prizes 1,593,824 393,755 1,987,579 1,502,762 279,406 1,782,168 
Enterprise and innovation 934,260 263,611 1,197,871 1,102,770 333,841 1,436,611 
Policy 11,752 497,091 508,843 33,183 518,825 552,008 
International 5,414 146,371 151,785 51,729 189,313 241,042 
Public Engagement 28,878 696,266 725,144 70,118 690,918 761,036 
Conferencing Letting - - - - - -
Development - - - 630 15,529 16,159 
Publications - - - 8,036 - 8,036 
Young Academy of Scotland 2,976 158,935 161,911 102,452 - 102,452 
Total cost of charitable 
activities 2,577,104 2,156,029 4,733,132 2,871,680 2,027,832 4,899,512 
Total Expenditure - RSE 2,666,605 2,444,475 5,111,079 2,931,823 2,415,860 5,347,683 

Support costs as set out in note 11 have been allocated to activities in proportion to the employment 
costs in each area of the charity.
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8. Grants Payable

9. Research and Prizes

An analysis of institutions and individuals awards made under this expenditure heading is 
included in the Society’s Review, obtainable from the address on the back cover. All awards 
are made to individuals.

Note

GROUP
2021

£

GROUP
2020

£

RSE
2021

£

RSE
2020

£

Promotion of Research
Scottish Government STEM 
Awards 575,402 1,035,440 575,402 1,035,440 
Scottish Government - COP26 104,782 - 104,782 -
Scottish Government  COVID 440,218 - 440,218 -
Scottish Government Saphire 47,219 - 47,219 -
Arts & Humanities Grants 382,346 265,920 382,346 265,920 
BP Research Fellowship Trust - 31,615 - 31,615 
CRF European Fellowships - - - -
CRF Health Happiness and 
Wellbeing - 7,565 - 7,565 
CRF Personal Research 
Research Fellowships - 38,067 - 38,067 
CRF Post graduate 
studentships 108,236 102,038 - -
Fullbright scholarship 12,242 - 12,242 
Robert Cormack Bequest 4,800 5,265 4,800 5,265 
Piazzi Smyth Bequest - - - -
John Moyes Lessells 
Scholarship 26,123 14,898 26,123 14,898 
Auber Bequest Awards (3,000) 11,000 (3,000) 11,000 
Henry Dryere Scholarship - - - -
Lillian & Herbert Smith Award - 10,000 - 10,000 
International Awards - 65,785 - 65,785 
Prizes & Grant 2,048 14,085 2,048 14,085 
Other direct costs 1,642 3,123 1,644 3,123 

1,702,058 1,604,801 1,593,824 1,502,763 
Support 340,664 269,891 393,755 269,891 

2,042,722 1,874,692 1,987,579 1,772,654 

Note 
GROUP 

2021  
£

GROUP 
2020  

£

RSE 
2021  

£

RSE 
2020  

£

Promotion of research 9 2,042,722 1,874,692 1,987,579 1,772,654 
Enterprise Fellowships 10 1,177,776 1,382,609 1,197,871 1,382,609 

3,220,498 3,257,301 3,185,450 3,155,263 
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10. Enterprise and Innovation

11. Support Costs

Note

GROUP
2021

£

GROUP
2020

£

RSE
2021

£

RSE
2020

£

Scottish Enterprise 
Fellowships 38,985 431,395 38,985 431,395 
STFC Fellowships 102,160 46,768 102,160 46,768 
RSE Enterprise Fellowships 292,194 - 292,194 -
BBSRC Fellowships 354,368 312,443 354,368 312,443 
IBioIC Fellowships 39,146 23,431 39,146 23,431 
Scottish Government 
Unlocking  Ambition - 88 - 88 
BP Enterprise Fellowships 107,407 278,510 107,407 278,510 
Support Costs 243,516 289,974 263,611 289,974 

1,177,776 1,382,609 1,197,871 1,382,609 

  GROUP Note

2021
TOTAL

£
Support  

£
Governance 

£

2020
TOTAL

£
Support  

£
Governance 

£

Staff costs (including 
secondments) 12 1,850,898 1,822,975 27,923 1,791,315 1,756,403 34,912 
Staff training,agency & 
recruitment costs 126,979 126,979 - 53,729 53,729 -
Other staff costs 19,663 19,663 - 53,474 53,474 -
Non-cash pension cost 
adjustments 52,000 52,000 - 283,000 283,000 -

2,049,540 2,021,617 27,923 2,181,518 2,146,606 34,912 

Other Costs
Establishment expenses 239,191 232,015 7,176 235,366 229,038 6,328 
Computer and 
equipment costs 163,800 153,972 9,828 84,171 78,886 5,285 
Communications, 
stationery and printing 
costs 110,975 104,317 6,659 50,645 47,329 3,316 
Travel and subsistence, 
hospitality 136 111 25 8,721 4,278 4,443 
Publicity 1,393 1,310 84 71,013 66,752 4,261 
Miscellaneous 2,471 2,471 - 4,057 3,441 616 
Professional fees and 
subcriptions 74,312 - 74,312 39,894 7,637 32,257 
Audit fee 23,201 - 23,201 21,194 - 21,194 
Depreciation 116,915 109,900 7,015 132,734 129,393 3,341 

732,396 604,096 128,300 647,795 566,754 81,041 
Total Support Costs 2,781,936 2,625,713 156,223 2,829,313 2,713,360 115,953 
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11. Support Costs (continued)

  RSE Note

2021
TOTAL

£
Support  

£
Governance 

£

2020
TOTAL

£
Support  

£
Governance 

£

Staff costs (including 
secondments) 12 1,637,930 1,610,007 27,923 1,479,805 1,444,893 34,912 
Staff Training,agency & 
recruitment costs 126,979 126,979 - 53,729 53,729 -
Other staff costs 19,663 19,663 - 53,474 53,474 -
Non-cash pension cost 
adjustments 52,000 52,000 - 283,000 283,000 -

1,836,572 1,808,649 27,923 1,870,008 1,835,096 34,912 

Other Costs
Establishment expenses 180,568 175,151 5,417 210,946 204,618 6,328 
Computer and 
equipment costs 179,892 169,099 10,794 88,082 82,797 5,285 
Communications, 
stationery and printing 
costs 109,990 103,390 6,599 55,260 51,944 3,316 
Travel and subsistence, 
hospitality - - - 8,270 4,278 3,992 
Publicity 1,394 1,311 84 71,013 66,752 4,261 
Miscellaneous 2,471 2,471 - 3,633 3,415 218 
Professional fees and 
subcriptions 72,370 - 72,370 39,469 7,212 32,257 
Audit fee 17,653 - 17,653 13,485 - 13,485 
Depreciation 43,565 40,951 2,614 55,694 52,353 3,341 

607,903 492,374 115,530 545,852 473,369 72,483 
Total Central Costs 2,444,475 2,301,022 143,453 2,415,860 2,308,465 107,395 

Support costs as set out in note 11 have been allocated to activities in proportion to the employment 
costs in each area of activity as set out in note 7.
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12. Employees

The average number of employees of the RSE, included those employed under joint contracts 
with the RSE Scotland Foundation was 44 (2020:46). Two members of staff earned over £70,000 
per year (1 in the band £70,000 to £80,000 and 1 in the band £95,000 to £100,000). The total 
remuneration of the key management personnel (the Chief Executive, the Director of Finance 
& Corporate Services, and the Director of Programmes) was £209,055, including pension 
contributions of £26,201 (2020: £299,124,including pension contributions of £43,436).

  GROUP 
  2021

Total  
Payroll

£

Support  
costs

£

Funded by 
Foundation

£

Funded by 
SCIO

£

Funded by 
RSE

£

Wages and salaries 1,469,749 1,469,749 158,366 - 1,311,382 
Social security costs 120,155 120,155 14,239 - 105,917 
Other pension costs 260,994 260,994 40,363 - 220,631 

1,850,898 1,850,898 212,968 - 1,637,930 

  2020

Total  
Payroll

£

Support  
costs

£

Funded by 
Foundation

£

Funded by 
SCIO

£

Funded by 
RSE

£

Wages and salaries 1,417,245 1,417,245 184,666 57,765 1,174,814 
Social security costs 126,002 126,002 26,451 5,230 94,321 
Other pension costs 248,068 248,068 22,239 15,159 210,670 

1,791,315 1,791,315 233,356 78,154 1,479,805 
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13(a). Tangible Fixed Assets

  GROUP

22–26 
George 

Street
 Purchase 

Cost 
£

Investment 
Property

Within 22–
26 George 
St Market 

Value
£

Leasehold     
Improvements 

£

Computer & 
Equipment

£

Assets under 
Construction  

£
Total 

£

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2020 2,180,741 3,160,000 2,136,070 371,614 54,952 7,903,377 
Additions - - - 117,958 - 117,958 
Disposals - - - (4,176) (54,952) (59,128)
Transfer - - - - - -
Revaluation - (660,000) - - - (660,000)
At 31 March 2021 2,180,741 2,500,000 2,136,070 485,396 - 7,302,207 
Depreciation
At 1 April 2020 927,307 - 927,375 284,548 - 2,139,230 
Disposals - - - (4,176) - (4,176)
Charge for the 
year 32,220 - 44,473 31,675 - 108,368 
Transfer - - - - - -
At 31 March 2021 959,527 - 971,848 312,047 - 2,243,422 
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2021 1,221,214 2,500,000 1,164,222 173,349 - 5,058,785 
At 31 March 2020 1,253,434 3,160,000 1,208,695 87,066 54,952 5,764,147 
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13(a). Tangible Fixed Assets (continued)

The RSE has ownership of buildings, for which part of the property is rented out to third 
parties. In accordance with FRS102, the rented element of the property has been valued as at 
31 March 2021 by Rydens LLP on a market value basis and as such the rented element of the 
owned property has been recognised as an investment property. Group Assets in the course of 
construction represent professional fees paid to date in respect of the planned redevelopment 
of the premises at George Street.

  RSE

22–26 
George 

Street
 Purchase 

Cost 
£

Investment 
Property

Within 22–
26 George 
St Market 

Value
£

Leasehold     
Improvements 

£

Computer & 
Equipment

£

Assets under 
Construction  

£
Total 

£

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2020 2,180,741 3,160,000 - 95,155 - 5,435,896 
Additions - - - 1,530 - 1,530 
Disposals - - - - - -
Transfer - - - - - -
Revaluation - (660,000) - - - (660,000)
At 31 March 2021 2,180,741 2,500,000 - 96,685 - 4,777,426 
Depreciation
At 1 April 2020 927,307 - - 91,738 - 1,019,045 
Disposals - - - - - -
Charge for the 
year 32,219 - - 875 - 33,094 
Transfer - - - - - -
At 31 March 2021 959,526 - - 92,613 - 1,052,139 
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2021 1,221,215 2,500,000 - 4,072 - 3,725,287 
At 31 March 2020 1,253,434 3,160,000 - 3,417 - 4,416,851 
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13(b). Heritage Fixed Assets

13(c). Intangible Assets

 GROUP  
£

RSE  
£

Before 2009 7,795 7,795 
2013 15,135 15,135 
2014 990 990 
2016 19,000 19,000 
2017 4,000 4,000 
At 1 April 2020 46,920 46,920 
Additions - -
At 31 March 2021 46,920 46,920 

 GROUP  
£

RSE  
£

Cost
At 1 April 2020 182,548 182,548 
Additions 191,185 191,185 
Disposals - -
Transfer - -
Revaluation - -
At 31 March 2020 373,733 373,733 
Depreciation
At 1 April 2020 - -
Disposals - -
Charge for the year 17,669 17,669 
Transfer - -
At 31 March 2021 17,669 17,669 
Net Book Value
As at 31 March 2021 356,064 356,064 
As at 31 March 2020 182,548 182,548 

The intangible asset relates to the payments for the software development of a customer relations 
management package. Further capital commitments in relation to this project are detailed in Note 
25(b) Financial Commitments - Capital.

Heritage assets include historical records of the RSE, portraits, furniture and other artefacts.
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14. Fixed Assets Investments

15. Fixed Assets - Loan Receivable

16. Current Assets - Debtors

The gain on sale of investments measured against their historical cost was £203,937 
(2020:£460,028). The historical cost of investments was £21,839,120 (2020: £22,116,157). 
(RSE£13,377,095; 2020: £13,624,860). There were no investments comprising more than 5% of the 
market value of the portfolio. All investments are held within the UK.

The loan was made by the RSE to the RSE Scotland Foundation and bears interest at 4% per annum, 
capped at the amount of rent received by the Foundation and is repayable over the period to 30 June 
2047, the expiration of the lease of 26 George Street. The interest rate on the loan, made to advance the 
charitable purposes of the RSE, was below current market rate when the loan was made and thus is 
regarded as concessionary and the amount stated does not take account of the time value of money.

Value at 1 
April 2020 

£

Investments 
Made at 

Cost 
£

Proceeds 
on Sale of 

Investments 
£

Realised 
Gain/(Loss)

£

Unrealised 
Gain/(Loss) 

£

Fair Value 
at 31 March 

2021 
£

Managed Funds 4,119,965 1,514,130 (790,267) 95,555 1,183,305 6,122,688 
Fixed Interest 2,181,617 (1,673) (25,361) (18,533) 260,402 2,396,452 
UK Equities 6,248,382 1,083,880 (1,554,677) 182,163 1,057,893 7,017,641 
Cash Deposits 433,159 (2,596,319) 2,324,721 - - 161,561 
RSE 12,983,123 18 (45,584) 259,185 2,501,600 15,698,342 
Managed Funds 2,882,636 953,751 (465,020) 56,117 835,064 4,262,548 
Fixed Interest 1,228,072 (657) (55,861) (6,427) 93,935 1,259,062 
UK Equities 3,965,417 780,491 (1,080,534) 131,841 669,716 4,466,931 
Cash Deposits 281,303 (1,733,584) 1,572,845 - - 120,564 
RSESF Caledonian 
Research Fund 8,357,428 1 (28,570) 181,531 1,598,715 10,109,105 
GROUP 21,340,551 19 (74,154) 440,716 4,100,315 25,807,447 

   RSE
 2021 

£
2020  

£

Due after one year 1,189,016 1,235,824 

GROUP
2021

£

GROUP
2020

£

RSE
2021

£

RSE
2020

£

General Debtors 417,347 256,105 379,509 184,736 
Loan Receivable due within one year - - 46,808 46,808 
Prepayments and accrued income 19,095 33,745 17,336 30,981 
Income tax recoverable 6,121 6,122 6,121 6,122 

442,563 295,972 449,774 268,647 
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17. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year

18. General Fund

   
 GROUP  

£
RSE  

£

At 1 April 2020 627,268 627,268 
Net Movement in funds for the year 
from statement of financial activities 717,928 717,928 
At 31 March 2021 1,345,196 1,345,196 

GROUP
2021

£

GROUP
2020

£

RSE
2021

£

RSE
2020

£

General creditors 251,075 399,391 134,270 347,533 
Research awards payable 1,274,956 851,069 1,274,956 851,069 
Accruals 1,343,696 144,732 1,323,436 87,356 
VAT Payable 23,049 16,945 - -
Other taxes and social security - 30,665 - 30,665 
Deferred Income 400,631 638,492 400,631 638,492 
Event income deferred - 10,000 - 10,000 
Advance receipts - Journals 80,798 54,673 - -
RSE Scotland Foundation Current Account - - 1,457,104 1,663,150 

3,374,205 2,145,967 4,590,397 3,628,265 

Deferred income and advance receipts 
analysis

At 1  
April 2020

£

Received in 
Year

£

Recognised 
in Year

£

At 31 March 
2021 

£

Scottish Government 304,316 2,812,800 (2,930,880) 186,236 
BBSRC Enterprise Fellowships 194,044 - (122,942) 71,102 
Fellows Subscription Income 139,673 - (10) 139,663 
Young Academy Subscription Income 459 3,630 (459) 3,630 

638,492 2,816,430 (3,054,291) 400,631 
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19. Unrestricted Funds

GROUP & RSE

At  
1 April

2020 
£

Investment
income

£

Other
income

£
Expenditure 

£

Gains/
(losses)

£
Transfers 

£

At  
31 March

2021
£

Capital Asset 
Reserve 2,877,928 - - - - (91,275) 2,786,653 
Development Fund 2,455,433 87,896 - (11,350) 536,726 (141,111) 2,927,594 
Building Fund 2,262,789 81,000 - (10,461) 494,384 - 2,827,712 
Pension Reserve 
Fund 1,109,302 39,709 - (5,128) 242,365 - 1,386,248 
BP Research Fund 3,113,503 111,453 - (121,799) 680,252 - 3,783,409 
Young Academy 
Fund 32,972 - - - - - 32,972 
Investment 
Property 
Revaluation 
Reserve (Note 13a) 2,818,141 - - - (660,000) - 2,158,141 
Designated Funds 
Total 14,670,068 320,058 - (148,738) 1,293,727 (232,386) 15,902,729 
FRS102 pension 
reserve - - - - - (2,204,000) (2,204,000)
General Funds 627,268 43,285 385,916 (946,707) (1,200,952) 2,436,386 1,345,196 
Unrestricted 
Funds Total 15,297,336 363,343 385,916 (1,095,445) 92,775 - 15,043,925 

The transfers represent the release from the Capital Asset Reserve of a total of £91,275 
(2020: £101,818) to match the depreciation of the buildings and the amount of capital 
repayment of the loan to the Foundation and the release from the Development Fund of 
£141,111 (2020: £0) for expenditure on developing the RSE’s regional strategy, its CRM 
system and work on the Post COVID Futures Commission.
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20. Restricted Funds

GROUP & RSE

At  
1 April

2020 
£

Investment
income

£

Other
income

£
Expenditure 

£

Gains/
(losses)

£
Transfers 

£

At  
31 March

2021
£

Robert Cormack 
Bequest 95,862 3,432 - (7,109) 20,944 - 113,129 
Lessells Trust 639,723 22,900 12,341 (41,533) 139,516 - 772,947 
Auber Bequest 581,404 20,812 - (11,006) 127,028 - 718,238 
Prizes Fund 78,938 2,826 - (1,902) 17,247 - 97,109 
Fleck Bequest 
Fund 130,407 4,668 - (3,141) 28,492 - 160,426 
Piazzi Smyth 
Legacy Fund 13,862 496 - (334) 3,029 - 17,053 
Sillitto Fund 38,486 1,378 - (927) 8,409 - 47,345 
Other 36,270 1,298 3,037 (874) 7,924 - 47,657 
Edinburgh Drug 
Absorption 
Foundation 79,712 - - - - - 79,712 
James Clerk 
Maxwell Fund 30,533 - - - - - 30,533 
Patrick Meares 
Fund 61,897 - - - - - 61,897 
Lillian & Herbert 
Smith Funds 1,452,825 52,006 - (34,997) 317,420 - 1,787,253 
Restricted Income 
Fund - - 3,488,025 (3,488,025) - - -
RSE 3,239,919 109,816 3,503,404 (3,589,848) 670,008 - 3,933,299 
RSE Scotland 
Foundation 10,087,504 292,485 308,978 (921,443) 1,780,246 - 11,547,769 
GROUP 13,327,423 402,301 3,812,381 (4,511,291) 2,450,254 - 15,481,068 

“Prizes Fund” comprises The Keith Fund, The Neill Fund, The Makdougall-Brisbane Fund, The 
Gunning-Victoria Fund, The James Scott Prize Fund, The Bruce-Preller Lecture Fund, The Dr DA Berry 
Fund, The Henry Duncan Prize Lecture Fund and The BP Prize Lecture in the Humanities Fund.

“Others” comprises the Retailing Seminars Fund and The CASS Fund (See note 2). The Restricted 
Income Fund represents restricted income received and expended in the year. The University of 
Glasgow is entitled to 10% of additional amounts received by the RSE from the Lessells Trust.

RSE Scotland Foundation funds are treated as restricted in the consolidated accounts and comprise 
the CRF Fund of £10,790,634 (2020: £9,156,707) and the balance of the Foundation General Fund of 
£751,136 (2020: £930,797)
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21. Analysis of Assets Between Funds

   GROUP
General 

£

Designated 
Funds

£

Restricted 
Funds 

£
2021 

£
2020

£

Funds balance at 31 March  
2021 are represented by:
Fixed assets 372,490 3,755,778 1,333,501 5,461,769 5,993,615 
Investments 2,757,110 9,180,077 13,870,260 25,807,447 21,340,551 
Loan to RSE Scotland 
Foundation - - - - -
Current assets 449,774 (46,808) 39,597 442,563 295,972 
RSE Scotland Foundation 
Current Account - - - - -
Deposits - 1,777,858 172,142 1,950,000 3,585,882 
Cash 2,356,218 - 85,201 2,441,419 368,706 
Current Liabilities (4,590,396) 1,235,824 (19,633) (3,374,205) (2,145,967)

1,345,196 15,902,729 15,481,068 32,728,993 29,438,759 
FRS102 Pension reserve - (2,204,000) - (2,204,000) (814,000)

1,345,196 13,698,729 15,481,068 30,524,993 28,624,759 

   RSE
General 

£

Designated 
Funds

£

Restricted 
Funds 

£
2021 

£
2020

£

Funds balance at 31 March  
2021 are represented by:
Fixed assets 372,490 3,755,778 3 4,128,271 4,646,319 
Investments 2,757,110 9,180,077 3,761,155 15,698,342 12,983,123 
Loan to RSE Scotland 
Foundation - 1,189,016 - 1,189,016 1,235,824 
Current assets 449,774 - - 449,774 268,647 
RSE Scotland Foundation 
Current Account - - - - (1,663,150)
Deposits - 1,777,858 172,142 1,950,000 3,585,882 
Cash 2,356,218 - - 2,356,218 259,725 
Current Liabilities (4,590,396) - (1) (4,590,397) (1,965,115)
Pension fund liability - 0 - - (814,000)

1,345,196 15,902,729 3,933,299 21,181,224 18,537,255 
FRS102 Pension reserve - (2,204,000) - (2,204,000) (814,000)

1,345,196 13,698,729 3,933,299 18,977,224 17,723,255 
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22. Pension Costs

(a) Universities Superannuation Scheme 

The RSE participates in the University Superannuation Scheme (USS, which is a funded defined 
benefit arrangement. Under UK pension legislation, the RSE is responsible for funding the Scheme’s 
benefits and for paying contributions to make up any shortfall between assets and the liabilities of 
the Scheme. The Scheme’s liabilities are assessed at least every three years by the Scheme’s actuary. 
It is the RSE’s funding policy to annually contribute an amount agreed between the organisation and 
the Trustees of the Scheme in accordance with UK legislative requirements if a funding deficit exists. 
Because of the mutual nature of the Scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to individual 
institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The RSE is therefore exposed to actuarial 
risks associated with other institutions’ employees. The amount of contributions required depends on 
the assumptions used by the actuary. The volatility of the Scheme’s liabilities against the assets held 
impacts on the RSE’s balance sheet.

The last formal actuarial valuation of USS was as at 31 March 2017. The valuation as at 31 March 
2020 has been delayed and was not published at the time of reporting our results. At the valuation 
date the market value of the scheme’s assets was £60 billion and the value of the scheme’s technical 
provisions was £67.5 billion. The value of the assets represents 89% of the benefits that had accrued 
to members, after allowing for expected future increases in earnings. The 2017 valuation incorporates 
the effect of the benefit changes due with effect from 1 April 2019.

For the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2034 the Employers’ deficit contributions will amount 
to 5% p.a. of salaries in addition to the employer’s share of the cost of accrual in the defined benefit 
section, together with the employer contribution to the defined contribution section and the expenses 
of the administering the Scheme including PPF levies.

At 31 March 2021, the RSE had 1 active member (2020: 1) and 8 deferred or pensioner members 
(2020:9) participating in the scheme. The contribution rate payable by the RSE in the year was on 
average 21% (2020: 21.0%) of pensionable salaries, amounting to £20,054 (2020: £18,919).

For employers participating in non-segregated multi-employer schemes such as USS, where it is 
not possible to identify a liability share, FRS102 required employers to record the net present value 
of any deficit contributions payable in the balance sheet, and an allowance must also be made in 
the P&L for interest accruing on the deficit over the year. Where it is possible to identify a liability 
share, a full FRS102 disclosure must be produced. Based on information provided by USS and the 
following assumptions, an RSE-specific valutation on an FRS102 basis has been prepared that more 
fully reflects the risk to the RSE of its status as a small employer in the scheme. All monetary figures 
are shown in £’000s sterling. No assets included in the fair value of plan assets are the entity’s own 
financial instruments or are properties occupied or used by the entity.
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22. Pension Costs (continued)

   
 31 March  

2021
31 March  

2020

Discount Rate 2.03% 2.31%
Salary Increases 2.00% 2.00%
Inflation RPI 3.72% 3.10%
Inflation CPI 3.22% 2.60%

   The major categories of USS Scheme assets  
   as a percentage of total plan assets.

  
2021

  
2020

Equities 26% 28%
Property 3% 4%
Bonds 42% 46%
Alternatives 19% 18%
Other 10% 4%

100% 100%

Male mortality assumptions at 31 March 2021 were 97.6% (2020 : 96.5%) S1NMA with CMI 2016, 
1.8% p.a. long term improvement.

Female mortality assumptions at 31 March 2021 were 102.7% (2020: 101.3%) RFV00 with CMI 2016, 
1.6% p.a. long term improvement.
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22. Pension Costs (continued)

USS Pension Fund 
asset/(liability)

Assets 
£’000

2021

 Obligations 
£’000

Net 
(liability)/

asset 
£’000

Assets 
£’000

2020
 

Obligations 
£’000

Net 
(liability)/

asset 
£’000

Fair value of plan assets 1,477 - 1,477 1,460 - 1,460 
Present value of 
liabilities - 2,291 (2,291) - 2,503 (2,503)
Opening Position as at 
31 March 1,477 2,291 (814) 1,460 2,503 (1,043)
Service cost
Current service cost - 26 (26) - 50 (50)
Net interest
Interest income on plan 
assets 34 - 34 33 - 33 
Interest cost on defined 
benefit obligation - 53 (53) - 58 (58)
Total net interest 34 53 (19) 33 58 (25)
Total defined benefit 
cost recognised in Profit 
or (Loss) 34 79 (45) 33 108 (75)
Cashflows
Plan participants' 
contributions 9 9 - 9 9 -
Employer contributions 20 - 20 19 - 19 
Benefits paid (66) (66) - (143) (143) -
Expected paid closing 
position 1,474 2,313 (839) 1,378 2,477 (1,099)
Remeasurements
Changes in 
demographic 
assumptions - - - - - -
Changes in financial 
assumptions - 104 (104) - (186) 186 
Return on assets excluding 
amount included in net 
interest (260) - (260) 99 - 99 

(260) 104 (364) 99 (186) 285 
Fair value of plan assets 1,214 - 1,214 1,477 - 1,477 
Present value of funded 
liabilities - 2,417 (2,417) - 2,291 (2,291)
Closing position as at 
31 March 1,214 2,417 (1,203) 1,477 2,291 (814)

The RSE pension fund liability arising from the USS scheme at 31 March and the movements of its 
component parts comprise:
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22. Pension Costs (continued)

(b) Lothian Pension Fund 
The RSE also participates in the Lothian Pension Fund, a defined benefit pension scheme established 
under Local Government Pension Fund Regulations. This scheme has determined that it is possible 
to ascertain the share of assets and liabilities relating to the individual admitted bodies. The assets of 
the scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. The fund is valued every three years by 
a professionally qualified actuary using the projected unit method, the rates of contributions payable 
being determined by the trustee on the advice of the actuaries. In the intervening years the actuaries 
review the progress of the scheme.

As at the latest valuation date of 31 March 2020, the market value of the scheme’s assets was £7,479 
million and the value of past service liabilities was £7,071 million. The value of the assets represented 
106% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected future increases in 
earnings. The contribution rate payable by the RSE in 2020-21 was 29.7% (2019-20: 27.5%).

The actuary has confirmed that it is appropriate to take the pension charge to be equal to the actual 
contribution paid during the year, amounting to £220,631 (2020: £210,516).
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22. Pension Costs (continued)

The RSE pension fund liability arising from the Lothian Pension Fund at 31 March and the movements 
of its component parts comprise:

Lothian Pension Fund  
   asset/(liability)

Assets 
£’000

2021 
 

Obligations 
£’000

Net 
(liability)/

asset 
£’000

Assets 
£’000

2020 
 

Obligations 
£’000

Net 
(liability)/

asset 
£’000

Fair value of plan assets 6,940 - 6,940 6,808 - 6,808 
Present value of 
liabilities - 6,839 (6,839) - 7,001 (7,001)
Opening Position as at 
31 March 6,940 6,839 101 6,808 7,001 (193)
Service cost
Current service cost - 235 (235) - 439 (439)
Net interest
Interest income on plan 
assets 161 - 161 173 - 173 
Interest cost on defined 
benefit obligation - 159 (159) - 179 (179)
Total  net interest 161 159 2 173 179 (6)
Total defined benefit 
cost recognised in Profit 
or (Loss) 161 394 (233) 173 618 (445)

Cashflows
Plan participants' 
contributions 43 43 - 48 48 -
Employer contributions 206 - 206 218 - 218 
Benefits Paid (108) (108) - (69) (69) -
Expected closing 
position 7,242 7,168 74 7,178 7,598 (420)
Remeasurements
Changes in 
demographic 
assumptions - (352) 352 - - -
Changes in financial 
assumptions - 1,928 (1,928) - (634) 634 
Other experience (192) (205) 13 - (24) 24 
Return on assets 
excluding amount 
included in net interest 488 - 488 (238) - (238)

296 1,371 (1,075) (238) (658) 420 
Fair value of plan assets 7,538 - 7,538 6,940 - 6,940 
Present value of funded 
liabilities - 8,539 (8,539) - 6,940 (6,940)
Closing position as at 
31 March 7,538 8,539 (1,001) 6,940 6,940 -
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22. Pension Costs (continued)

Principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages)  
at the year-end were as follows:

  
2021

  
2020

Inflation/pension increase rate 2.8% 1.8%
Salary increase rate 3.3% 3.4%
Discount rate 2.1% 2.3%

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the balance sheet date as 
based on the Fund’s Vita Curves including an allowance for future improvements in longevity in line 
with the CMI2016 model with an allowance for smoothing of recent mortality experience and long 
term rate of 1.5% p.a.

(c) Summary of Asset/(Liability) Position

(d) Total Pension Charge for the Year

The major categories of LPF Scheme assets as a 
percentage of total plan assets: 2021 2020

Equities 38% 36%
Bonds 52% 56%
Property 3% 4%
Cash 7% 4%

100% 100%

   
31 March  

2021
31 March  

2020

Total pension charge for the year, before the FRS102 
pension movements 220,631 210,670 

USS Pension Fund 
asset/(liability)

Assets 
£’000

Obligations 
£’000

Net 
(liability)/

asset 
£’000

Assets 
£’000

Obligations 
£’000

Net 
(liability)/

asset 
£’000

USS Pension Fund 1,214 2,417 (1,203) 1,477 2,291 (814)
Lothian Pension Fund 7,538 8,539 (1,001) 6,940 6,940 -
Closing Position as at 
31 March 8,752 10,956 (2,204) 8,417 9,231 (814)

2021 2020
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23. Transactions with Related Parties

(a) Council Members

(b) Other related parties

Members of Council do not receive any payments for their services to the Group. They are 
reimbursed for expenditure on travel and subsistence costs actually and necessarily incurred in 
carrying out their duties as Councillors and Officers. The aggregate of such reimbursements, during 
the year was £nil  (2020: £5 532).

The RSE President is Chair of the Carnegie Trust for the Universities of Scotland, which administers 
postgraduate scholarships on behalf of the Foundation. In 2020-21, the Foundation made payments 
in support of the studentship scheme amounting to £108,236 (2020: £102,038).

24. Connected Charities

(a) RSE Scotland Foundation

The RSE Scotland Foundation is a charitable trust, recognised in Scotland as Scottish Charity Number 
SC024636. It was created in March 1996, with the objective of advancing the education of the public 
in Scotland in science and engineering and in so doing, to conserve the scientific and cultural heritage 
of Scotland. The President, General Secretary, Treasurer, Curator and a Vice-President of the RSE 
are ex officiis Trustees of the Foundation, which draws on the resources of the RSE in carrying out 
its objectives. The Foundation also has five nominated Trustees appointed by the RSE Council. The 
Foundation became publisher of the RSE’s journals under a Publications Right License effective from 
1 January 1997.

On 1 July 1997, the RSE granted to the Foundation a 50 year lease over 26 George Street, carrying an 
obligation to refurbish the building within a three year period. The Council of the RSE agreed to make 
a loan of up to £2.3 million available to the Foundation in support of the refurbishment. The agreed 
terms of the loan are described in note 15.

The Foundation plays a leading role in the RSE’s public outreach activities and manages the premises 
in Edinburgh. It also manages the programme of research activities funded by the Caledonian 
Research Fund.

The summary results for the year and net 
assets in RSE Scotland Foundation were:

Income
£

Expenditure
£

Deficit
£

Net Assets
£

RSE Scotland Foundation 782,324 (1,102,297) (319,973) 11,547,771 

Intragroup transactions recognised  
in the RSE comprise:

Income
£

Expenditure
£

Creditors
£

Loan  
Account

£

RSE Scotland Foundation 425,785 180,855 (1,457,104) 1,189,016 
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25 (a). Financial Commitments - Operating Leases

25 (b). Financial Commitments - Capital

The Society had no financial commitments as at 31 March 2021.

Financial commitment in respect of operating leases 
for printing and copying equipment: 2021 2020

Expires within one year 11,053 11,053 
Expires within one to five year 14,050 25,103 

25,103 36,156 
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26. Contingent Liabilities

Current RSE pension policy, as determined by the Council, is to make an exit from both of the defined 
benefit pension schemes,USS and Lothian Pension Fund, as soon as praticable. If this policy is 
implemented, an exit liabililty may crystalise when the last active member leaves the scheme. As the 
RSE has only one active member in the USS scheme, it is possible that this will be triggered in the 
foreseeable future. The most recent estimate available from USS in April 2021 indicated that the exit 
liability was £1.3m.

27. Analysis of Net Funds

   At 31 March 
2021

  
Cash flows

At 31 March 
2020

Cash at Bank 2,441,419 2,072,713 368,706 
Deposits - Restricted Funds 172,142 (2,074,050) 2,246,192 
Deposits - Unrestricted Funds 1,777,858 438,168 1,339,690 

4,391,419 436,831 3,954,588 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

29. Supplementary Information: Grants, Donations and Receipts

28. Financial Instruments

GROUP 
2021  

£

GROUP 
2020  

£

RSE 
2021  

£

RSE 
2020  

£

Financial Assets
Debt Instruments recognised  
at amortised cost 423,468 262,226 432,438 237,665 
Equity instruments at fair value 25,807,447 21,340,551 15,698,342 12,983,123 

26,230,915 21,602,777 16,130,780 13,220,788 

Financial Liabilities
Debt instruments recognised at 
amortised cost (2,869,727) (1,395,196) 2,732,662 (2,949,108)

23,361,188 20,207,581 18,863,442 10,271,680 

The funding for 2020-21 was grant-in-aid under S23 Natural Heritage (Scotland) Act 1985 in support 
of several programmes of activity. During 2020-21 the RSE and the Scottish Government agreed 
to reallocate funding to support academics affected by the pandemic and also to encourage 
collaboration in the lead up to COP26.

The RSE gratefully acknowledges all those who make donations in support of activities. During the 
year ended 31 March 2021 the RSE received a donation of £3,037 from the estate of David Finney.

(a) Scottish Government Grant Income

(b) Other donations in support of activities
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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Note Unrestricted 
£

Restricted  
£

2020 Total  
£

2019 Total  
£

Income
Donations & Legacies 4 275,244 159,957 435,201 367,056 
Charitable activities 5 164,153 3,712,638 3,876,791 5,180,444 
Investment income 502,957 134,032 636,989 600,214 
Transfer from RSE Scotland 
SCIO on dissolution 32,972 - 32,972 -
Total income 975,326 4,006,627 4,981,953 6,147,714 

Expenditure
Raising funds 7 (448,171) - (448,171) (396,316)
Charitable activities 7 (1,080,816) (3,818,696) (4,899,512) (5,884,091)
Total expenditure (1,528,987) (3,818,696) (5,347,683) (6,280,407)
Net operating (deficit)/surplus (553,661) 187,931 (365,730) (132,693)

Gains / (losses) on 
Investment Assets
Realised gains on 
investments 14 23,868 7,336 31,204 190,460 
Unrealised (losses)/gains on 
investments 14 (1,637,867) (503,382) (2,141,249) (62,554)
Unrealised (losses)/gains on 
investment property 13(a) (265,000) - (265,000) 3,083,141 
Net income / (expenditure) (2,432,660) (308,115) (2,740,775) 3,078,354 
Transfers between funds 19,20 597,628 (597,628) - -

Other recognised gains / 
(losses)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on
defined benefit pension funds 22 705,000 - 705,000 (735,000)
Net movement in funds (1,130,032) (905,743) (2,035,775) 2,343,354 

Reconciliation of funds:
Balance brought forward at
1 April 2019 16,427,368 4,145,662 20,573,030 18,229,676 
Balance carried forward at
31 March 2020 15,297,336 3,239,919 18,537,255 20,573,030 

(INCORPORATING THE INCOME & EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

30. RSE Statement of Financial Activities
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Legal and Administrative Information

Auditors

RSM UK Audit LLP 
First Floor, Quay 2 
139 Fountainbridge 
Edinburgh 
EH3 9QG

Stockbrokers & Investment 
Advisers

Rathbones 
50 George Suare 
Glasgow G2 1EH

 

Solicitors

Shepherd & Wedderburn WS 
1 Exchange Crescent 
Conference Square 
Edinburgh 
EH3 8UL

Bankers

Bank of Scotland plc 
The Mound  
Edinburgh 
EH1 1YZ

The Royal Society of 
Edinburgh 
22–26 George Street 
Edinburgh 
EH2 2PQ

Further information about the activities of the Royal Society of Edinburgh and additional copies of the 
Annual Report and Accounts may be obtained from:

Brooks MacDonald (formerly Cornelian Asset Managers Limited) 
Hobart House 
80 Hanover Street 
Edinburgh 
EH2 1EL
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